
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Tuesday, 9 February 2021

Dear Councillor, 

TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM

A  meeting of the Town & Community Council Forum will be held remotely via Microsoft Teams on 
Monday, 15 February 2021 at 16:00.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence  
To receive apologies for absence from Members.  

2. Declarations of Interest  
To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 
1 September 2008.

3. Approval of Minutes  3 - 6
To receive for approval the Minutes of 26 10 20

4. Outcome of the Consultation "Fit For The Future" 7 - 78

5. Bridgend Town Centre Regeneration Masterplan Consultation (December 
2020 - March 2021) - Engagement with Town and Community  Councils 

79 - 114

6. Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 115 - 134

7. Urgent Items  
To consider any other item(s) of business in respect of which notice has been given in 
accordance with Rule 4 of the Council Procedure Rules and which the person presiding at 
the meeting is of the opinion should by reason of special circumstances be transacted at the 
meeting as a matter of urgency.  

Yours faithfully
K Watson
Chief Officer, Legal, HR & Regulatory Services 

Public Document Pack



Please note: Due to the current requirement for social distancing this meeting will not be held at its 
usual location. This will be a virtual meeting and Council Members and Officers will be attending 
remotely. The meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site 
which will be available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding 
this, please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148.

Councillors: Councillors Councillors
S Aspey
SE Baldwin
JPD Blundell
MC Clarke
HJ David
P Davies
Cllr S Dendy

Including a representative from 
each Town & Community 
Council

DK Edwards
RM Granville
B Jones
KL Rowlands
B Sedgebeer
CE Smith
SG Smith

JH Tildesley MBE
SR Vidal
MC Voisey
KJ Watts
AJ Williams
RE Young



TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM - MONDAY, 26 OCTOBER 2020

1

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM HELD 
REMOTELY VIA SKYPE FOR BUSINESS ON MONDAY, 26 OCTOBER 2020 AT 16:00

Present

Councillor HJ David – Chairperson 

S Aspey SE Baldwin JPD Blundell Cllr S Dendy
DK Edwards D Evans RM Granville Pratt
JC Radcliffe Reeves KL Rowlands B Sedgebeer
CE Smith SR Vidal KJ Watts RE Young

Apologies for Absence

Officers:

Andrea Boyce Consultation Engagement and Equalities Officer
Nicola Bunston Consultation Engagement and Equalities Manager
Judith Jones Partnership Co-ordinator
Gill Lewis Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
Jonathan Parsons Group Manager Development
Andrew Rees Democratic Services Manager
Kevin Stephens Democratic Services Assistant

194. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor S Dendy declared a personal interest as a member of the Public Services 
Board.

Councillor SE Baldwin declared a personal as a member of Bridgend Town Council.   

195. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the 10/12/19 be approved as a true and accurate     
record.

196. ROAD ADOPTIONS

The Group Manager Planning and Development Services provided an overview of the 
highway adoption process in Bridgend and outline the various stages involved in road 
adoption, the issues and problems together with the potential for improvement to the 
system both locally and nationally. 

He informed the Forum the Council is responsible for overseeing the processes to 
secure the adoption of new highways and the modification of existing highways 
constructed by developer, commonly known as Section 38 and Section 278 agreement 
highway works.  The local highway authority can ‘adopt’ a road but there is no legal 
process to force developers to seek adoption.  The Council will only adopt a new road if 
it is constructed to certain standards and may also adopt an existing road but in doing so 
takes on the ongoing maintenance liability.  The adoption process normally starts at 
planning pre-application stage where a developer enters into discussion with the local 
planning authority and the highway authority regarding a new development - planning 
and highway requirements are set out.  He outlined the problems with the current 
process and possible solutions.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM - MONDAY, 26 OCTOBER 2020

2

He informed the Forum that the Minister for Education and Transport had set up an 
Unadopted Roads Task Force to look at the issues in Wales and in so doing identify the 
extent of unadopted roads and what could be done to improve the situation.  As a result 
a Good Practice Guide was agreed together with the use of a set of common Common 
Standards.  Once implemented, this approach is considered to reduce significantly the 
chances of any further ‘unadopted road’ being created. Work has also progressed in 
establishing a database to provide a comprehensive record of all unadopted roads in 
Wales, which has been used to provide the quantum of unadopted roads.  He stated that 
a final report was issued in September 2020 to build on the initial work and address the 
recommendations emanating from the initial report.  He highlighted the 
recommendations emanating from the report.

A member of the Forum commented that unadopted roads are causing major problems 
for residents in many valley communities and asked if the Council could take up this 
issue.  The Leader advised that this is one of the areas being looked at by the Task 
Force to establish the extent of the problem.  The Group Manager Planning and 
Development Services informed the Forum that this is an issue across Wales in both 
rural and urban areas and whether there is no registered owner, the burden falls on the 
residents. There would be a considerable financial burden on the Council to adopt roads 
which are unadopted and with no resources to do so.  

A member of the Forum asked would the Council consider an approach by a Town or 
Community Council if it was able to bring up a road to an adoptable standard or to make 
a partial contribution.  The Leader commented that the Council may consider such an 
approach and the Council is open to working with Town and Community Councils.  The 
Group Manager Planning and Development Services informed the Forum that the 
Council did not have resources to adopt roads and there is no programme for adoptions, 
however a Town and Community Council could support the adoption of a road.    
   
RESOLVED:

  1. That the Town and Community Council Forum noted the report. 
  2. That a further report be presented to the Forum on progress once the Welsh 

Government Unadopted Roads Task Force recommendations are available and 
whether resources are made available by the Welsh Government to support a 
programme for the adoption of roads. If resources become available consideration 
be given to working with Town and Community Councils to bring roads up to an 
adoptable standard.

197. BRIDGEND PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD

The Partnerships and Community Services Manager informed the Forum of the work of 
Bridgend Public Services Board (PSB) in relation to the Assessment of Well-being and 
the development of the next Well-being Plan for Bridgend County and the 
responsibilities of some Town and Community Councils under the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act).

The Partnership and Community Services Manager informed the Forum that the PSB 
must publish its Well-being Assessment of Bridgend County no later than one year 
before it publishes its Well-being Plan and the Bridgend County Well-being Plan must be 
published no later than one year after the next ordinary election.  This meant that the 
next well-being assessment will be published by 30 April 2022 and the Well-being plan 
published by 30 April 2023.  She stated that developing the Well-being assessment is an 
extensive exercise and work will commence early in 2021 and she highlighted the 
timeline for completion of the Well-being assessment.  

Page 4



TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM - MONDAY, 26 OCTOBER 2020

3

She reported on the duty on certain community and town councils to take all reasonable 
steps towards meeting the local objectives included in the Bridgend Well-being Plan that 
has effect in their areas.  She stated that a community or town council is subject to that 
duty only if its gross income or expenditure was at least £200,000 for each of the three 
financial years preceding the year in which the local well-being plan is published.  A 
town or community council subject to the duty must publish a report each relevant 
financial year detailing the progress it has made in meeting the objectives in the local 
well-being plan. 

The Partnership and Community Services Manager reported that at the meeting of the 
Forum on 27 November 2018, Cllr Baldwin and Cllr Blundell agreed to become 
members of the PSB Assets Sub Board and have since been actively involved in 
workshops and the activities of the sub board.  The sub board focuses on issues such 
as improving and protecting green spaces to help local people to use our natural, built 
and heritage assets to improve their well-being.  She stated that the Bridgend PSB 
would like to further involve individual Town and Community Councils and the Town and 
Community Council Forum in the development of the Well-being Assessment and the 
Well-being plan.

A member of the Forum questioned as to when might the CIA be available.  The 
Partnership and Community Services Manager informed the Forum that a draft of the 
report had been received and once signed off by the PSB will be circulated.   

RESOLVED:       That the Town and Community Council Forum considered the report 
and determined future actions and that Town and Community Councils 
notify the Partnerships and Community Safety Manager should they 
wish to nominate members to the PSB Assets Sub Board.

198. FIT FOR THE FUTURE-BUDGET CONSULTATION 2020, ENGAGEMENT WITH 
TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS

The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change delivered a presentation 
on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2021-22 to 2024-25 in order to set the 
scene for future years’ savings requirements and budget pressures.  She informed the 
Forum that as at quarter 2, an overspend of £2m was forecast.  She highlighted the 
financial impact of covid on the Council and that financial support had been provided by 
the Welsh Government in relation to the impact of covid.  Monthly claims had been 
submitted by the Council to the Welsh Government, with claims of £5m paid to date to 
cover the partial contribution of the purchase of ICT equipment and the loss of income 
for quarter 1. The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change informed 
the Forum of the current funding pressures facing the Council, which had seen the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme being £300,000 over budget and the collection rates of 
Council Tax impacted upon.  She stated that the most optimistic budget scenario would 
be a £11m shortfall and there was likely to be new potential priorities in relation to 
business and the economy, homelessness, health and wellbeing, digitalisation and on 
the level of Council Tax collected.

The Consultation, Engagement and Equalities Manager highlighted the consultation 
process on the budget consultation, which this year had seen a decline in responses 
from previous years, due to the impact of covid.  It was aimed that the consultation is as 
wide reaching as possible, and the team are continuously looking for ways to engage 
with the public and improve participation.  However due to the impact of Covid-19  this 
year the capacity to engage with residents face to face is greatly restricted, and it was 
more it was more important than ever to ensure there is participation so that all residents 
and communities across the county borough have a voice in the consultation process.

Page 5



TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM - MONDAY, 26 OCTOBER 2020

4

The Consultation, Engagement and Equalities Manager outlined the proposed timeframe 
for the Fit for the Future Budget consultation 2020 which is 19 October 2020 to 13 
December 2020, focusing on seven key areas:

 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic;
 Business and the economy;
 Health and wellbeing;
 Customer access to Civic offices;
 Digitalisation;
 Council Tax levels;
 The future.

She stated the survey aims to gain views from residents about which services have 
been most important to them during lockdown, how the council have performed during 
the Covid-19 pandemic, and what is important as we start to plan for the future, asking 
residents what the future priorities should be and it should implement these.  She 
informed the Forum that Town and Community Councils will be provided with the 
electronic link to the consultation, e-poster and the explainer video.  Paper copies are 
available where requested.  She stated that the consultation will be available in a variety 
of formats, including online and paper, standard, easy read, youth version and large 
print and during the live period, officers will be available to remotely attend Town and 
Community Council meetings.  The Consultation and Engagement team will liaise with 
Town and Community Council Clerks directly to arrange attendance at meetings and will 
develop a calendar of events for the live period, so all requests to attend meetings or 
events should be made as soon as possible.  Meetings and events will not take place 
after the closing date of 13 December 2020.  The Consultation, Engagement and 
Equalities Manager informed the Forum that the MTFS 2020 Budget Consultation 
Report will be presented to Cabinet in January 2021.

A member of the Forum questioned how the Council could improve digital connectivity 
with Town and Community Council Clerks.  The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, 
Performance and Change commented that the Digital Board had a great deal of work to 
roll out, but would consider how it could improve digital connectivity with Town and 
Community Council Clerks.     

RESOLVED:            1. That the Town and Community Council Forum
received and considered the report and gave consideration to 
engagement during the live period.

2. That the Town and Community Council Forum noted
the presentation by the Interim Chief Officer –
Finance, Performance and Change. 

3. That consideration be given by the Digital Board as
to how it could improve engage digital connectivity
with Town and Community Councils.

199. URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items.

The meeting closed at 17:30

Page 6



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM

15 FEBRUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE

OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION ‘FIT FOR THE FUTURE’

1 Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Town and Community Council Forum 
with a copy of the Outcome of the ‘Fit for the Future’ consultation report that was 
presented to Cabinet on 19 January 2021, for information.

2 Connections to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

2.2 The ‘Fit for the Future’ 2020 consultation sought to obtain views on the future 
direction of the council following the Covid-19 pandemic. The allocation of financial 
resources determines the council’s ability to meet its well-being objectives. As such 
the report links to all the well-being objectives.

3 Background

3.1 Following a number of years of reductions in funding from central government, and 
continued financial pressures, along with addressing post-Covid-19 recovery, all 
councils across the country are continuing to change the way they work and the 
services they provide so that they can manage with less. Bridgend County Borough 
Council (BCBC) has made reductions from its budget of £22 million over the last 
four years (2017-18 to 2020-21), with an expectation of significant further reductions 
required over the next four years.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
3.2 A public consultation exercise was undertaken over an eight week period from 19 

October 2020 to 13 December 2020. Respondents were asked to share their views 
on a range of areas including:

 Responding to the COVID-19 pandemic;
 Business and the economy;
 Health and wellbeing; 
 Customer access to Civic Offices;
 Digitalisation;
 Council Tax levels;
 The future.

3.3 Budget consultation exercises have been undertaken annually since 2013-14. This 
‘Fit for the Future’ 2020 consultation exercise has built on the knowledge gained 
from the previous consultations and further developed the consultation to include 
new ways for people to participate and engage with the council, as well as adapting 
to the challenges around social distancing that the pandemic has created. A wide 
variety of methods of communication were used including surveys, social media, a 
number of online engagement sessions, online FAQ sessions as well as videos, 
radio adverts and media releases. Due to the impact of Covid-19, and the inability 
to engage with residents face to face in the community, the council wanted to make 
sure that as many people as possible could get involved in the consultation and 
ensured that accessible versions of the survey were available – large print, easy-
read and youth, as well as standard. An advert was also placed in the Glamorgan 
Gazette notifying non-domestic rates payers of the consultation, and inviting them 
to participate, as required by Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992.

3.4 The budget consultation was live between 19 October 2020 and 13 December 
2020. The surveys were available on the council’s website and paper copies were 
sent directly to residents upon request.

3.5 In order to gather views of young people, the consultation team attended the 
Bridgend Youth Council meeting on 24 November 2020. The Youth Council took 
part in discussions around some of the key questions within the consultation and 
were encouraged to complete the full consultation online. 11 young people engaged 
in the session. In addition, in order to encourage participation of young people in 
secondary schools and Bridgend College, the consultation team wrote to all 
Governing Bodies and headteachers as well as the Principal of Bridgend College to 
promote the consultation amongst their learners as well as school staff and 
parents/carers.   

3.6 The consultation aimed to reach the following key stakeholders: general 
public/residents, Citizens’ Panel members, elected members, BCBC employees, 
Bridgend businesses, town and community councils, school governors, Bridgend 
Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) members, local 
interest/community groups, Bridgend Association of Voluntary Organisations 
(BAVO), Bridgend College, partners, secondary schools (including head teachers) 
and media outlets.

Page 8



3.7 The consultation was supported by a full communications and promotional plan. 
The main activities included three media releases, a BCBC budget explainer video, 
various press release/editorials in the media, a social media/web campaign, radio 
campaign, direct marketing to key target audiences e.g. businesses, schools, Youth 
Council and internal communications for staff and elected members. 

3.8 As well as the explainer video, four additional videos were created to promote the 
consultation on social media due to the impact of the pandemic. These videos 
featured the Chief Executive, Leader, Deputy Leader and Youth Mayor. 

3.9 In addition to general social media content, four polls were created on Twitter which 
generated 122 votes to key questions within the budget consultation survey.

3.10 The Fit for the Future consultation was included in eight weekly govDelivery 
bulletins and one stand-alone bulletin during the live period. govDelivery is a new 
communications tool that has been implemented by the authority in 2020 to send 
messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of their choice. There 
are currently 37,360 English language subscribers and 220 Welsh language 
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. 
Overall, the govDelivery emails generated 1,839 link clicks through to the budget 
consultation webpage. 

4 Current situation/proposal

4.1 Attached to this cover report is a copy of the report to Cabinet on 19 January 2021 
on the Outcome of the ‘Fit for the Future’ Consultation (Appendix A)

4.2 The attached consultation report (Appendix B) sets out in detail the views 
expressed by those who participated.

4.3 Overall, the council has received 1,831 interactions from a combination of survey 
completions, engagement at various meetings, social media engagement and via the 
authority’s Citizens’ Panel. Due to the impact of Covid-19 this is a decrease of 5,606 
(75%) on the 7,437 interactions from last year. A total of 1,421 survey responses 
were received, which is a decrease of 58% on last year’s survey completions. 

4.3 The response rate, by method of interaction is set out below:

Interactions Number
Survey completions 1,421
Events/meetings/workshops 203
Emails 3
Letters 1
Telephone calls 2
Social media comments 79
Social media polls 122
Total interactions 1,831

 1,421 responses to the surveys were received in total. 
 Overall 203 people attended the various online events and meetings.
 A total of 201 interactions were received via social media. This includes 79 

social media comments and 121 social media poll votes. 

Page 9



 6 comments were received by email, telephone and webpage feedback.

5 Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules

5.1 There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure rules. 

6 Equality Impact Assessment.

6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report.

7 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of the 
Budget Consultation. Officers have considered the importance of balancing short-
term needs in terms of meeting savings targets, while safeguarding the ability to 
meet longer-term objectives and maintain sustainable services, when proposals 
were devised. A full Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
assessment will be completed for the final Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
to be presented to Council in February 2021.

8 Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

9 Recommendation

9.1 That the Town and Community Council Forum receives and considers this report 
alongside the detailed reports attached as Appendix A and Appendix B. 

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
15 February 2021 

Contact Officer: Nicola Bunston 
Consultation Engagement and Equalities Manager 

Telephone: (01656) 643664

E-mail: nicola.bunston@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB

Contact Officer: Deborah Exton
Deputy Head of Finance

Telephone: (01656) 643604

E-mail: deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk

Page 10

mailto:nicola.bunston@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk


Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council
Raven’s Court
Brewery Field
Bridgend 
CF31 4AP

Background Documents: None

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE

OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION ‘FIT FOR THE FUTURE’

1 Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the outcome of the ‘Fit for the 
Future’ 2020 consultation which asked citizens to share their views on how they 
think the council should shape its services going forward, as part of its ‘Restart, 
Recover and Renew’ strategy, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The intention 
was to understand how the public felt that the council could look like and how it 
could deliver sustainable and effective services for the next 5 to 10 years. 

2 Connections to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

2.2 The ‘Fit for the Future’ 2020 consultation sought to obtain views on the future 
direction of the council following the Covid-19 pandemic. The allocation of financial 
resources determines the council’s ability to meet its well-being objectives. As such 
the report links to all the well-being objectives.

3 Background

3.1 Following a number of years of reductions in funding from central government, and 
continued financial pressures, along with addressing post-Covid-19 recovery, all 
councils across the country are continuing to change the way they work and the 
services they provide so that they can manage with less. Bridgend County Borough 

Page 13



Council (BCBC) has made reductions from its budget of £22 million over the last 
four years (2017-18 to 2020-21), with an expectation of significant further reductions 
required over the next four years.

 
3.2 A public consultation exercise was undertaken over an eight week period from 19 

October 2020 to 13 December 2020. Respondents were asked to share their views 
on a range of areas including:

 Responding to the COVID-19 pandemic;
 Business and the economy;
 Health and wellbeing; 
 Customer access to Civic Offices;
 Digitalisation;
 Council Tax levels;
 The future.

3.3 Budget consultation exercises have been undertaken annually since 2013-14. This 
‘Fit for the Future’ 2020 consultation exercise has built on the knowledge gained 
from the previous consultations and further developed the consultation to include 
new ways for people to participate and engage with the council, as well as adapting 
to the challenges around social distancing that the pandemic has created. A wide 
variety of methods of communication were used including surveys, social media, a 
number of online engagement sessions, online FAQ sessions as well as videos, 
radio adverts and media releases. Due to the impact of Covid-19 and the inability to 
engage with residents face to face in the community, the council wanted to make 
sure that as many people as possible could get involved in the consultation and 
ensured that accessible versions of the survey were available – large print, easy-
read and youth, as well as standard. An advert was also placed in the Glamorgan 
Gazette notifying non-domestic rates payers of the consultation, and inviting them 
to participate, as required by Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992.

3.4 In order to gather views of young people, the consultation team attended the 
Bridgend Youth Council meeting on 24 November 2020. The Youth Council took 
part in discussions around some of the key questions within the consultation and 
were encouraged to complete the full consultation online. 11 young people engaged 
in the session. In addition, in order to encourage participation of young people in 
secondary schools and Bridgend College, the consultation team wrote to all 
Governing Bodies and headteachers as well as the Principal of Bridgend College to 
promote the consultation amongst their learners as well as school staff and 
parents/carers.   

3.5 The budget consultation was live between 19 October 2020 and 13 December 
2020. The surveys were available on the council’s website and paper copies were 
sent directly to residents upon request.

3.6 The consultation aimed to reach the following key stakeholders: general 
public/residents, Citizens’ Panel members, elected members, BCBC employees, 
Bridgend businesses, town and community councils, school governors, Bridgend 
Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) members, local 
interest/community groups, Bridgend Associaon of Voluntary Organsiations 

Page 14



(BAVO), Bridgend College, partners, secondary schools (including head teachers) 
and media outlets.

3.7 The consultation was supported by a full communications and promotional plan. 
The main activities included three media releases, a BCBC budget explainer video, 
various press release/editorials in the media, a social media/web campaign, radio 
campaign, direct marketing to key target audiences e.g. businesses, schools, youth 
council and internal communications for staff and elected members. 

3.8 As well as the explainer video, four additional videos were created to promote the 
consultation on social media due to the impact of the pandemic. These videos 
featured the Chief Executive, Leader, Deputy Leader and Youth Mayor. 

3.9 In addition to general social media content, four polls were created on Twitter which 
generated 122 votes to key questions within the budget consultation survey.

3.10 The Fit for the Future consultation was included in eight weekly govDelivery 
bulletins and one stand-alone bulletin during the live period. govDelivery is a new 
communications tool that has been implemented by the authority in 2020 to send 
messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of their choice. There 
are currently 37,360 English language subscribers and 220 Welsh language 
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. 
Overall, the govDelivery emails generated 1,839 link clicks through to the budget 
consultation webpage. 

4 Current situation / proposal

4.1 The attached consultation report (Appendix A) sets out in detail the views 
expressed by those who participated.

4.2 Overall, the council has received 1,831 interactions from a combination of survey 
completions, engagement at various meetings, social media engagement and via the 
authority’s Citizens’ Panel. Due to the impact of Covid-19 this is a decrease of 5,606 
(75%) on the 7,437 interactions from last year. A total of 1,421 survey responses 
were received, which is a decrease of 58% on last year’s survey completions. 

4.3 The response rate, by method of interaction is set out below:

Interactions Number
Survey completions 1,421
Events/meetings/workshops 203
Emails 3
Letters 1
Telephone calls 2
Social media comments 79
Social media polls 122
Total interactions 1,831

 1,421 responses to the surveys were received in total. 
 Overall 203 people attended the various online events and meetings.

Page 15



 A total of 201 interactions were received via social media. This includes 79 
social media comments and 121 social media poll votes. 

 6 comments were received by email, telephone and webpage feedback.

4.4 Headline figures and themes include:

4.4.1 Responding to the pandemic

 45% of respondents stated that customer services had performed well or very well 
during the pandemic;

 64% of respondents stated that communications had been performed well or very 
well during the pandemic; 

 47% of respondents stated that the support for vulnerable residents had been 
performed well or very well during the pandemic; 

 39% of respondents stated that the support for businesses had been performed well 
or very well during the pandemic;

 50% of respondents stated that support for town centres had been performed well or 
very well during the pandemic;

 70% of respondents stated that the support for communities had been performed well 
or very well during the pandemic;

 When asked what services they had missed during lockdown, respondents stated 
that the services that they had missed the most were community recycling centres, 
followed by gyms and/or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields;

 When asked which maintained services should be a priority for the future, 
respondents stated general waste and recycling collection services followed by street 
lighting including responding to street lighting faults and then domestic abuse 
support;

 58% of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be adopted 
as an approach for the future.

4.4.2  Business and the economy
 

 87% of respondents stated that support for local businesses was important or very 
important;

 73% of respondents stated that promotion of town centres as places to visit was 
important or very important;

 73% of respondents stated that supporting the visitor economy activities and services 
in our tourist attraction areas was important or very important;

 69% of respondents stated that sustainability of culture and leisure venues was 
important or very important;

Page 16



 79% of respondents stated that labour market opportunities were important or very 
important;

 71% of respondents stated that business start-up was important or very important;  

 When asked if respondents had any other ideas about how the council should support 
local businesses, respondents stated to reduce business rates and rents followed by 
the need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, encourage 
more shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour followed by better 
and free car parking.

4.4.3 Health and wellbeing  

 When asked about which support services the council should focus on to help its 
most vulnerable residents as it recovers from the pandemic, 92% of respondents 
stated that support for older people was important or very important; 

 81% stated that ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown 
restrictions ease was important or very important;

 78% of respondents stated that food poverty – (for example should BCBC support 
and promote food banks and provide children eligible for free school meals with food 
parcels during school holidays) was important or very important;

 77% of respondents stated that council tax support for residents who had difficulty 
paying their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic was important or very 
important;

 86% of respondents stated that during the pandemic support from community 
organisations was either important or very important ; 

 68% of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third sector.

4.4.4 Customer access to Civic Offices 

 81% of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices while 
it has been closed; 

 When asked how they have accessed services while Civic Offices has been closed 
respondents stated the website, followed by telephone and then email;

 37% of respondents stated that they had accessed customer services while the 
council has been closed.  Respondents stated that they had most commonly done 
this by telephone followed by email and then social media;

 The reasons most commonly stated for contacting customer services were recycling 
and waste, followed by council tax and then Covid-19 related advice;

 41% of respondents did not think it should be a priority to reopen Civic Offices;

Page 17



 60% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, the council should 
move to an appointment based system. 

4.4.5 Digitalisation

 59% of respondents stated that they had accessed services online.  Of these 55% 
accessed services themselves whereas 4% had someone else to do this on their 
behalf;

 59% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, they will continue to 
access services online.  A further 20% of respondents stated that they always 
preferred to access services online;

 When asked what would help you or someone you know access services online, 44% 
stated that they did not need any help accessing services online. This was followed 
by 15% who stated that they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful and 14% who 
stated that they would like to have videos on the Bridgend council website. 12% of 
respondents stated that they would like access to community learning sessions and 
11% stated that they would like appointments with a member of the customer services 
team to show them how to access services online;

 76% of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery.  When asked 
why not, the most common responses were that they were not aware of this service, 
followed by not needed/required/interested and then that they can find information 
independently through the internet, newspapers, social media, contacting the council 
etc.

  
4.4.6 Council tax levels 

 When asked to select which statement best represents their views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax 
slightly to help protect the most important services where possible (4.5% increase), 
followed by 36% of respondents who stated that they would want to keep council tax 
levels the same, resulting in a reduction in the level of services provided, followed by 
19% of respondents who were prepared to increase council tax more significantly to 
protect more services (6% increase) and then 8% of respondents who were prepared 
to pay as much as is needed to maintain all council services at existing levels (16% 
increase).

4.4.7 The future   

 When asked what the council’s long term priorities for the future should be 
respondents selected to make in-house efficiencies, followed by focussing on 
services that benefit everyone in the borough and then encouraging citizens to take 
more responsibility;

 When asked which three services the council should prioritise when recovering from 
the pandemic respondents most commonly chose care for older people, followed by 
schools and then recycling and waste; 

 When asked what lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic should be considered when 
setting medium and long term funding priorities respondents most commonly stated 

Page 18



that the council should have an emergency fund, not waste money and make internal 
savings i.e. streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts.  This was followed by the need to have a caring society, support 
social services and vulnerable people including children, older people, disabled 
people, care homes, carers and homelessness and then for the council to plan and 
prepare for the future and be adaptable;

 When asked if respondents had any further comments to make Bridgend County 
Borough fit for the future respondents most commonly stated that the council should 
make internal savings i.e. review number of staff and councillors, pay, expenses and 
review funded external partners followed by evaluating spending, providing value for 
money and provide more clarity on where money is spent, and then the council should 
be more prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans and decisions for the 
future.

5 Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules

5.1 There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure rules. 

6 Equality Impact Assessment.

6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report.

7 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of the 
Budget Consultation. Officers have considered the importance of balancing short-
term needs in terms of meeting savings targets, while safeguarding the ability to 
meet longer-term objectives and maintain sustainable services, when proposals 
were devised. A full Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
assessment will be completed for the final Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
presented to Council in February 2021.

8 Financial implications

8.1 The consultation report seeks to inform and aid Cabinet Members’ decisions on the 
future direction of the council and how to meet the challenging budget constraints in 
the years ahead.

9 Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to note the outcome of the consultation with interested 
parties as detailed in the consultation report attached as Appendix A.

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
January 2021

Contact Officer: Deborah Exton
Deputy Head of Finance

Page 19



Telephone: (01656) 643604

E-mail: deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council
Raven’s Court
Brewery Field
Bridgend 
CF31 4AP

Contact Officer: Nicola Bunston 
Consultation Engagement and Equalities Manager 

Telephone: (01656) 643664

E-mail: nicola.bunston@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB

Background Documents: None

Page 20

mailto:deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.bunston@bridgend.gov.uk


www.bridgend.gov.uk

Date of issue: 6 January 2021 

Fit for the Future 2020 

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Bridgend County Borough Council

Consultation report

Page 21

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


2

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Contents

Contents.............................................................................................................................2
1. Overview ........................................................................................................................3
2. Introduction ....................................................................................................................3
3. Promotional tools and engagement methods.................................................................3
4. Response rate................................................................................................................9
5. How effective was the consultation? ............................................................................10
6. Headline figures ...........................................................................................................10
7. Question and analysis - consultation survey................................................................13
7.1 About you ...................................................................................................................13
7.2 Survey questions........................................................................................................15
7.2.1 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic ...................................................................15
7.2.2 Business and the economy .....................................................................................25
7.2.3 Health and wellbeing...............................................................................................29
7.2.4 Civic Offices ............................................................................................................35
7.2.5 Digitalisation............................................................................................................41
7.2.6 Council tax levels ....................................................................................................46
7.2.7 The future................................................................................................................47
7.2.8 Any other comments ...............................................................................................51
8. Social media, email letter and telephone responses....................................................52
9. Town and Community Council meetings and Elected Member’s online workshops ....53
10. Youth Council meeting ...............................................................................................54
11. Conclusion .................................................................................................................54

Page 22

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


3

www.bridgend.gov.uk

1. Overview

A public consultation, Fit for the Future, was undertaken over an eight-week period from 19 
September to 13 December 2020.  Previous budget consultations have focused on specific 
service provisions, but this year, with the aim of becoming ‘Fit for the Future’ following the 
impact of Covid-19, the council wanted to engage residents on a longer-term vision for 
Bridgend County Borough.  

The consultation received 1,831 interactions from a combination of survey completions, 
engagement at various meetings, social media and digital communication engagement and 
via the local authority’s Citizens’ Panel. This paper details the analysis associated with the 
consultation.

2. Introduction

The public survey was available to complete online through a link on the consultation page 
of the council’s website or by visiting www.bridgend.gov.uk/future. Paper copies of the 
consultation were also made available which could be sent directly to residents upon 
request.  Surveys were available in several formats, including easy-read, large print, 
standard and a youth version. All were available in English and Welsh. The content of the 
page remains available online.

In total, there were 35 questions (within all survey formats) that required a reply from 
respondents. Respondents could choose to answer all or some of the questions. All survey 
responses offered the option of anonymity. The council’s standard set of equalities 
monitoring questions were also included with the survey in line with recommended good 
practice for all public-facing surveys carried out by the council.  

Comments regarding the consultation were also invited via social media, letter, email and 
phone call. 

Due to the impact of Covid-19 this year, the council were unable to carry out face-to-face 
engagement within the community. The council therefore relied more heavily on social 
media, digital communications, the website and online meetings in order to engage with 
residents throughout the budget consultation. This does appear to have impacted on the 
levels of engagement with the consultation. Details of which can be seen in section four. 

3. Promotional tools and engagement methods

Details of the consultation were shared with the following stakeholders: general 
public/residents, Citizens’ Panel members, elected members, Bridgend County Borough 
Council (BCBC) employees, Bridgend businesses, town and community councils, school 
governors, Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) members, local 
interest/community groups, Bridgend Association of Voluntary Organisations (BAVO), 
Bridgend College, partners, secondary schools (including headteachers) and media outlets. 

3.1 Promotional tools

This section details the methods used to raise the profile of the consultation and encourage 
participation.

Page 23

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


4

www.bridgend.gov.uk

3.1.1 Social media

In December 2017 the council committed to managing its social media accounts bilingually. 
In addition to introducing Welsh language corporate Twitter and Facebook accounts at that 
time, it started posting bilingually across the remainder of its social media channels.

Budget consultation information was posted bilingually to the council’s corporate Facebook, 
Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn channels throughout the consultation period to raise 
awareness of the consultation and to encourage citizens to share their views on the 
proposals.

The council currently has 13,486 followers on its corporate Twitter accounts, 16,138 
followers on Facebook pages, 2,713 followers on Instagram and 4,491 followers on 
LinkedIn. While content is most likely to be seen by these users, it is also displayed to users 
who are not connected to the accounts.

In addition to general social media content, four polls were created on Twitter which 
generated 122 votes to key questions within the budget consultation survey:

 Supporting local businesses and the economy will be a priority for making 
Bridgend County Borough Fit for the Future. What do you think are the most 
important factors the council should focus on?

37 votes resulted in the following responses:

Financial support 45.9%
Promoting town centres 32.4%
Business start-up support 8.1%
Additional apprentices 13.5%

 During the Covid-19 pandemic some of our services have been delivered 
remotely or online. Do you think this is an approach we should develop and 
adopt for the future?

32 votes resulted in the following responses:

Yes 78.1%
No 15.6%
Not sure 6.3%

 Since closing our face to face channel for customers in Civic Offices, we have 
continued to provide the same service over the telephone, email and online. 
Have you been happy with the level of services provided? 

22 votes resulted in the following responses:

Yes 36.4%
No 40.9%
Unsure 22.7%

Page 24

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


5

www.bridgend.gov.uk

 More people are now accessing services online as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic. Are you happy to continue accessing services online?

31 votes resulted in the following responses:

Yes 32.3%
No 35.5%
Always online services 16.1%
Unsure 16.1%

Paid Facebook and Instagram advertising was used to reach and target a wider audience 
within the county borough between 18 and 29 November. 

The English language adverts reached 27,760 people living in Bridgend County Borough 
and generated 56 comments, 41 shares, 88 reactions and 1,208 clicks through to the 
English budget consultation webpage. 

The Welsh language adverts reached 822 Welsh-speaking people living in Bridgend 
County Borough and generated 3 reactions and 37 clicks through to the Welsh language 
budget consultation webpage.

In addition to the explainer video, four additional videos were created to promote the 
consultation on social media due to the impact of the pandemic. These videos featured the 
Chief Executive, Leader, Deputy Leader and Youth Mayor. Overall video views were 5257. 

During the consultation period, the local authority posted 70 times across social media 
channels. This organic and paid for content reached 512,768 people generating 79 
comments, 141 shares, 165 reactions, 122 poll votes, 5,257 video views and 2,248 link 
clicks through to the budget consultation page on the local authority website. 

3.1.2 govDelivery

govDelivery is a new digital communications tool that has been implemented by the local 
authority in 2020 to send messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of 
their choice. 

There are currently 37,360 English language subscribers and 220 Welsh language 
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. Fit for 
the Future budget consultation was included in the following bulletins:

English
Date Total email opens Unique link clicks Total link clicks
15/10/2020 30,056 opens 23 29
22/10/2020 36,967 opens 233 268
29/10/2020 41,237 opens 84 99
05/11/2020 38,011 opens 51 59
12/11/2020 32,108 opens 61 68
19/11/2020 34,530 opens 37 45
25/11/2020 
(Standalone bulletin)

26,492 opens 984 1,136

03/12/2020 32,900 opens 14 17

Page 25

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


6

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Date Total email opens Unique link clicks Total link clicks
10/12/2020 33,534 opens 98 106

The Fit for the Future consultations were included in 8 weekly English language bulletins 
and one standalone bulletin. This generated 1,827 link clicks through to the English 
budget consultation webpage.

Welsh
Date Total email opens Unique link clicks Total link clicks
15/10/2020 177 opens 0 0
22/10/2020 154 opens 0 0
29/10/2020 134 opens 0 0
05/11/2020 139 opens 0 0
12/11/2020 95 opens 0 0
19/11/2020 147 opens 0 0
25/11/2020 
(Standalone bulletin)

172 opens 10 12

03/12/2020 93 opens 0 0
10/12/2020 134 opens 0 0

The Fit for the Future consultations were included in 8 weekly Welsh language bulletins 
and one standalone bulletin. This generated 12 link clicks through to the Welsh budget 
consultation webpage.

Overall, govDelivery generated 1,839 link clicks through to the budget consultation 
webpage. 

3.1.3 Media and publicity

Page 26

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


7

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Three main media releases were issued to coincide with the start, middle and end of the 
consultation in order to raise awareness and encourage participation. These were issued 
on 19 October, 10 November and 4 December.

Between 21 October and 11 December, the budget consultation was also incorporated into 
16 news round-up media releases. These were issued at a rate of two a week.
 
Prior media work was carried out to encourage participation and involvement, including an 
interview between the Local Democracy Reporter for the area and the Leader, Cabinet, 
Chief Executive and senior finance officers.

The media releases were featured at the media centre of the council’s website where they 
were hyperlinked with associated social media publicity, including the videos for the Leader 
and Youth Mayor.

3.1.4 Internal communications

The consultation was promoted internally with a feature at the staff intranet homepage.

It was also promoted via five Bridgenders all-staff emails. These were issued on 29 October, 
5 and 26 November, and 3 and 10 December.

3.1.5 Promotional materials

An explainer video was designed to help people understand what was being asked of them, 
with examples of questions that were included in the consultation. The video was featured on 
the webpage for the consultation and also posted on the council’s social media channels, 
including Facebook, Twitter and Instagram.

The explainer video was also separated into smaller bite sized videos for further promotion 
on Twitter.

The explainer video received 871 views on social media and 264 views on YouTube. 

An awareness campaign was run on Bridge FM for the first two weeks of the consultation to 
launch the campaign and in weeks five and six of the consultation as a reminder/final push 
for the consultation. 

Posters promoting the consultation with a QR code to take people to the landing page of 
the website were circulated to comprehensive schools, Town and Community Councils and 
Bridgend Bus Station. Posters were also displayed on local buses (by First Cymru and 
Easyway).  The QR code generated 26 hits to the budget consultation page. 

The headers for the council’s social media accounts were changed to promote the Fit for 
the Future consultation, along with a graphic on the front page of the BCBC website linking 
through to the consultation landing page and a banner on the front page of the Bridgenders 
intranet home page also linking to the consultation landing page.

Page 27

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


8

www.bridgend.gov.uk

The standard email footer from the main council’s email accounts Talktous was updated to 
include a link to promote the Fit for the Future survey.  This was sent to all recipients who 
had contacted the council via the Talktous email address.

A standalone e-shot promoting the Fit for the Future survey was issued to 2855 businesses 
listed on the Bridgend business directory. 

3.1.6 Other promotional activities

Targeted letters and emails were sent to school governing bodies, town and community 
councils, equality groups, BCBC members and Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality 
Forum members.

Details of the consultation were sent to Awen and Halo and BAVO who were asked to help 
raise the profile through their own organisations and social media channels. 

3.2 Engagement methods

This section details the mechanisms available for stakeholders to engage with the council 
and share their views.

3.2.1 The budget survey

The survey was made available in a variety of formats to ensure inclusion across community 
groups. A standard survey, easy-read, large print and youth version of the survey were all 
made available in Welsh and English. All were available in paper format and online. The 
same survey was replicated for Citizens’ Panel members and sent to them in the format of 
their choice. 

3.2.2 Youth Council 

In order to gather views of young people the consultation team attended the Bridgend 
Youth Council meeting on 24 November 2020. The Youth Council took part in discussions 
around some of the key questions within the consultation and were encouraged to complete 
the full consultation online. 11 young people engaged in the session. Comments from 
attendees were noted and are themed in section 10.  

3.2.3 Secondary School and Bridgend College engagement 

In order to encourage participation of young people within Bridgend secondary schools and 
Bridgend College the consultation team wrote to all governing bodies and headteachers as 
well as the Principal of Bridgend College to promote the consultation amongst their learners 
as well as school staff and parents/carers.  

3.2.4 Elected Members’ online workshop

Two online workshops took place for elected members on 18 November 2020. A total of 39 
members attended across the two sessions. Members were given the opportunity to 
engage in and give responses to some of the questions within the consultation and were 
encouraged to complete the full consultation online. Comments from attendees were noted 
and are themed in section 9.  

Page 28

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


9

www.bridgend.gov.uk

3.2.5 Town and Community Council meetings

All Town and Community Councils were asked if the Consultation and Engagement Team 
could attend their regular meeting during the live period. The purpose was to inform each 
TCC of the consultation and encourage their local residents to take part. The Consultation 
and Engagement team attended the Town and Community Council Forum and nine Town 
and Community Council online meetings. A total of 136 community councillors attended 
the meetings. Comments from attendees were noted and are themed in section 9.  

3.2.6 Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) 
 
The quarterly meeting of BCCEF took place during the live period of the budget 
consultation on 10 December 2020.  Members of the meeting (12 attendees) were given 
an overview of the consultation and were encouraged to complete the full consultation 
online. The meeting consisted of members representing community based organisations 
including South Wales Police, People First Bridgend, faith organisations, Victim Support 
Cymru and Mental Health Matters Wales. All organisations had been provided with 
promotional materials to promote the consultation within their individual community groups.  

4. Response rate 

In total, there were 1,831 interactions during the consultation. The response rate has been 
segregated into several areas: consultation survey responses, engagement event/meeting 
attendees and social media interactions. 

Interactions Number
Survey completions 1,421
Events/meetings/workshops 203
Emails 3
Letters 1
Telephone calls 2
Social media comments 79
Social media polls 122
Total interactions 1,831

1,421 survey responses were received in total (1,285 online submissions and 136 paper 
versions). 

Survey type Online 
English

Online 
Welsh

Paper 
English

Paper 
Welsh

Total

Standard 857 5 1 0 863
Easy read 17 0 2 0 19
Large print 3 0 0 0 3
Citizens’ Panel 257 1 129 4 391
Youth 64 81 0 0 145
Total 1,198 87 132 4 1,421

There were 203 attendees at the various events and meetings. 

Page 29

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


10

www.bridgend.gov.uk

During the consultation period, there were 201 interactions on our social media channels.  
This includes Twitter polls where 122 votes were received. 

Comments from social media have been themed and are detailed in section 8. 

Comments that were received by letter, email or telephone call have been themed and are 
included in section 8.

5. How effective was the consultation?

The budget consultation was conducted over an eight week period in which a range of 
marketing methods were used to create awareness of the consultation as well as reach and 
encourage stakeholders to engage with the council. 

The data collection methods, which include the online survey, a paper survey, the Citizens’ 
Panel and a youth survey (aimed at 11-24 year olds) were all developed using plain English 
to maximise understanding. 

The four versions of the survey: standard; large print; easy read and youth were developed 
to maximise accessibility and to encourage participation with all members of the community. 

6. Headline figures

 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic

6.1 45% of respondents stated that customer services had performed well or very well 
during the pandemic;

6.2 64% of respondents stated that communications had been performed well or very 
well during the pandemic; 

6.3 47% of respondents stated that the support for vulnerable residents had been 
performed well or very well during the pandemic; 

6.4 39% of respondents stated that the support for businesses had been performed 
well or very well during the pandemic;

6.5 50% of respondents stated that support for town centres had been performed well 
or very well during the pandemic;

6.6 70% of respondents stated that the support for communities had been performed 
well or very well during the pandemic;

6.7 When asked what services they had missed during lockdown respondents stated 
that the services that they had missed the most were community recycling centres, 
followed by gyms and/or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields;

6.8 When asked which maintained services should be a priority for the future 
respondents stated general waste and recycling collection services followed by 
street lighting including responding to street lighting faults and then domestic abuse 
support;

Page 30

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


11

www.bridgend.gov.uk

6.9 58% of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be adopted 
as an approach for the future.

 Business and the economy

6.10 87% of respondents stated that support for local businesses was important or very 
important;

6.11 73% of respondents stated that promotion of town centres as places to visit was 
important or very important;

6.12 73% of respondents stated that supporting the visitor economy activities and 
services in our tourist attraction areas was important or very important;

6.13 69% of respondents stated that sustainability of culture and leisure venues was 
important or very important;

6.14 79% of respondents stated that labour market opportunities were important or very 
important;

6.15 71% of respondents stated that business start-up was important or very important;  

6.16 When asked if respondents had any other ideas about how the council should 
support local businesses, respondents stated to reduce business rates and rents 
followed by the need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, 
encourage more shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour 
followed by better and free car parking.

 Health and wellbeing

6.17 When asked about which support services the council should focus on to help our 
most vulnerable residents as we recover from the pandemic, 92% of respondents 
stated that support for older people was important or very important; 

6.18 81% stated that ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown 
restrictions ease was important or very important;

6.19 78% of respondents stated that food poverty – (for example should BCBC support 
and promote food banks and provide children eligible for free school meals with 
food parcels during school holidays) was important or very important;

6.20 77% of respondents stated that council tax support for residents who had difficulty 
paying their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic was important or very 
important;

6.21 86% of respondents stated that during the pandemic support from community 
organisations was either important or very important; 

6.22 68% of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third 
sector.

Page 31

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


12

www.bridgend.gov.uk

 Customer access to Civic offices

6.23 81% of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices while 
it has been closed; 

6.24 When asked how they have accessed services while Civic Offices has been closed 
respondents stated the website, followed by telephone and then email;

6.25 37% of respondents stated that they had accessed customer services while the 
council has been closed.  Respondents stated that they had most commonly done 
this by telephone followed by email and then social media;

6.26 The reasons most commonly stated for contacting customer services were 
recycling and waste, followed by council tax and then Covid-19 related advice;

6.27 41% of respondents did not think it should be a priority to reopen Civic Offices;

6.28 60% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, the council should 
move to an appointment based system. 

 Digitalisation

6.29 59% of respondents stated that they had accessed services online.  Of these 55% 
accessed services themselves whereas 4% had someone to do this on their behalf;

6.30 59% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, they will continue 
to access services online.  A further 20% of respondents stated that they always 
preferred to access services online;

6.31 When asked what would help you or someone you know access services online, 
44% stated that they did not need any help accessing services online. This was 
followed by 15% who stated that they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful 
and 14% who would like to have videos on the Bridgend council website. 12% of 
respondents stated that they would like access to community learning sessions 
and 11% stated that they would like appointments with a member of the customer 
services team to show them how to access services online;

6.32 76% of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery. When asked 
why not, the most common responses were that they were not aware of this 
service, followed by not needed/required/interested and then that they can find 
information independently through the internet, newspapers, social media, 
contacting the council etc.

 Council Tax levels

6.33 When asked to select which statement best represents their views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22, 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax 
slightly to help protect the most important services where possible (4.5% increase), 
followed by 36% of respondents who stated that they would want to keep council 
tax levels the same, resulting in a reduction in the level of services provided, 

Page 32

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


13

www.bridgend.gov.uk

followed by 19% of respondents who were prepared to increase council tax more 
significantly to protect more services (6% increase) and then 8% of respondents 
who were prepared to pay as much as is needed to maintain all council services at 
existing levels (16% increase).

 The future

6.34 When asked what the council’s long term priorities for the future should be 
respondents selected to make in-house efficiencies, followed by focussing on 
services that benefit everyone in the borough and then encouraging citizens to take 
more responsibility;

6.35 When asked which three services the council should prioritise when recovering 
from the pandemic, respondents most commonly chose care for older people, 
followed by schools and then recycling and waste; 

6.36 When asked what lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic should be considered 
when setting medium and long term funding priorities, respondents most commonly 
stated that the council should have an emergency fund, not waste money and 
make internal savings i.e. streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses 
and review external contracts.  This was followed by the need to have a caring 
society, support social services and vulnerable people including children, older 
people, disabled people, care homes, carers and homelessness and then for the 
council to plan and prepare for the future and be adaptable;

6.37 When asked if respondents had any further comments to make Bridgend County 
Borough fit for the future, respondents most commonly stated that the council 
should make internal saving i.e. review number of staff and councillors, pay, 
expenses and review funded external partners followed by evaluating spending, 
providing value for money and providing more clarity on where money is spent and 
then the council should be more prepared, improve transparency and make bold 
plans and decisions for the future. 

7. Question and analysis - consultation survey

The consultation contained 35 questions covering the following areas:

 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic;
 Business and the economy;
 Health and wellbeing; 
 Customer access to Civic offices;
 Digitalisation;
 Council Tax levels;
 The future.

7.1 About you

Respondents were asked how they heard about the consultation. 

Page 33

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


14

www.bridgend.gov.uk

1532 respondents provided this information. 

Council social media (13%)Facebook (16%)Twitter (2%)Instagram (1%)YouTube (1.5%)LinkedIn (0.2%)Non-council social media accounts (1%)Poster/leaflet/busines...Council website (8%)Non-council website (0.5%)Newspaper/magazines (1%)Word of mouth (4%)Direct...Through another consultation (0.8%)I work for BCBC (4%)Local town, community or county borough councillor (2%)Other (7%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

The most popular responses were:

 Direct email or letter (37%);
 Facebook (16%);
 Council social media (34%)

101 (7%) of respondents stated other when responding to this question, these are themed 
below:

68 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 64 comments made have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
School/teacher/school parliament/Google classroom 48
BCBC email 23
Local radio/Bridge FM 5
Oggy Bloggy Ogwr 4
Citizens' Panel 4
govDelivery/emailed newsletter 4
Word of mouth 4
BAVO 1
Bridgend business forum 1
Previously done surveys 1
Wales Online 1
I work in NHS in Bridgend 1
The gazette 1
Google news 1
Through BCCEF 1
Unsure 1

Page 34

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


15

www.bridgend.gov.uk

The most common responses within ‘other’ were School/teacher/school parliament/Google 
classroom followed by BCBC email and then Bridge FM. 

Respondents were then asked for their age. 

1366 respondents provided their age group:    

102

10

112

193

247

318

249

98

37

Under 18 
(8%)

18 - 24 
(1%)

25 - 34 
(8%)

35 - 44 
(14%)

45 - 54 
(18%)

55 - 64 
(23%)

65 - 74 
(18%)

75+ (7%) Prefer 
not to 

say (3%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

The most popular responses were:

 23% of respondents were aged 55-64;
 18% of respondents were aged 45-54;
 18% of respondents were aged 65-74.

Respondents were then asked for their employment status. 

1389 respondents provided their employment status;  

67

471

136
74 57

449

52
83

Stu
dent /

 tr
ain

ee (5
%)

Employe
d - F

ull t
im

e (3
4%)

Employe
d - P

art
 tim

e (1
0%)

Se
lf-e

mploye
d (5

%)

Unemploye
d / l

ookin
g f

or 

work 
(4%) Retir

ed (3
2%)

Care
r (4

%)

Prefer n
ot t

o sa
y (

6%)
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500

Page 35

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


16

www.bridgend.gov.uk

The most popular responses were:

 34% of respondents informed us that they were in full time employment;
 32% of respondents informed us that they were retired;
 10% of respondents informed us that they were employed part time. 

7.2 Survey questions 

7.2.1 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic  

7.2.1.1 How do you consider Bridgend County Borough Council has performed during 
the Covid-19 pandemic within the following areas?  

Respondents were asked to rate how well they thought the council had performed in a 
range of areas during the pandemic.  

Customer services (maintaining the telephone service remotely for residents and providing 
online services such as chatbot)

A total of 1386 people responded to this question. 

220

399

631

91
45

Very well (16%) Well (29%) Neutral (45%) Badly (7%) Very badly (3%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

45% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 45% stated that customer 
services has performed very well (16%) or well (29%) during the pandemic. 10% stated that 
they had performed badly (7%) or very badly (3%).   

Communications (for example, updating our website and social media channels)

A total of 1375 people responded to this question. 

Page 36

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


17

www.bridgend.gov.uk

339

539

396

74

27

Very well (25%) Well (39%) Neutral (29%) Badly (5%) Very badly (2%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

64% stated that communications had been performed very well (25%) or well (39%) during 
the pandemic. 29% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 7% stated 
that they had performed badly (5%) or very badly (2%).   

Radio and car tannoy announcements

A total of 1328 people responded to this question. 

71

191

809

148
109

Very well (5%) Well (15%) Neutral (61%) Badly (11%) Very badly (8%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

61% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 20% stated that Radio 
and tannoy announcements had been performed very well (5%) or well (15%) during the 
pandemic. 19% stated that they had been performed badly (11%) or very badly (8%).   

The reassurance leaflet delivered to all homes across Bridgend County Borough along with 
a copy of the recycling timetable for the rest of the year

Page 37

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


18

www.bridgend.gov.uk

A total of 1374 people responded to this question. 

241

485

400

146

102

Very well (18%) Well (35%) Neutral (29%) Badly (11%) Very badly (7%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

53% stated that the reassurance leaflet performed very well (18%) or well (35%) during the 
pandemic. 29% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 18% stated 
that they had performed badly (11%) or very badly (7%).   

Supporting vulnerable residents (for example, delivering food parcels)

A total of 1367 people responded to this question. 

263

384

604

73
43

Very well (19%) Well (28%) Neutral (44%) Badly (6%) Very badly (3%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

44% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 47% stated that support 
for vulnerable residents had been performed very well (19%) or well (28%) during the 
pandemic. 9% stated that this support had been performed badly (6%) or very badly (3%).   

Page 38

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


19

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Support for businesses (for example, processing grants, free training, issuing sneeze 
guards)

A total of 1353 people responded to this question. 

173

356

681

90
53

Very well (13%) Well (26%) Neutral (50%) Badly (7%) Very badly (4%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

50% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 39% stated that support 
for businesses had been performed very well (26%) or well (13%) during the pandemic. 
11% stated that this support had been performed badly (7%) or very badly (4%).   

Supporting town centres (for example, introducing barriers and street markings to help 
ensure people can maintain social distancing)

A total of 1371 people responded to this question. 

218

465
427

190

71

Very well (16%) Well (34%) Neutral (31%) Badly (14%) Very badly (5%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

50% of respondents stated that support for town centres had been performed very well 
(16%) or well (34%) during the pandemic. 31% of respondents provided a neutral response 

Page 39

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


20

www.bridgend.gov.uk

to this question. 19% stated that this support had been performed badly (14%) or very badly 
(5%).   

Supporting communities (for example, continue to collect recycling and waste, street 
lighting and repairs to highways)

A total of 1388 people responded to this question. 

504
471

233

116

64

Very well (36%) Well (34%) Neutral (17%) Badly (8%) Very badly (5%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

70% of respondents stated that support for communities had been performed very well 
(36%) or well (34%) during the pandemic. 17% of respondents provided a neutral response 
to this question. 13% stated that this support had been performed badly (8%) or very badly 
(5%).   

7.2.1.2  A large number of services and buildings are closed, or have limited access, 
because of Covid-19. What services have you missed during lockdown? Please tick all 
that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 5651 responses were received 
within this question

Page 40

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


21

www.bridgend.gov.uk

61 184 58 105 207
885

589 490 244 219 650 142 364 72 309 236 280 151 337 68

Re
gi

st
er

 o
ffi

ce
 (1

%
)

Fa
ce

 to
 fa

ce
 c

us
to

m
er

 se
rv

ic
e 

at
 C

iv
ic

 o
ffi

ce
s (

3%
)

Sh
op

m
ob

ili
ty

 (1
%

)

Li
fe

gu
ar

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
(2

%
)

Ga
rd

en
 w

as
te

 se
rv

ic
e 

(4
%

)

Co
m

m
un

ity
 re

cy
cl

in
g 

ce
nt

re
s (

16
%

)

Pa
rk

s a
nd

 p
la

yi
ng

 fi
el

ds
 (1

0%
)

Li
br

ar
ie

s (
9%

)

Co
m

m
un

ity
 c

en
tr

es
 (4

%
)

Ce
m

et
er

ie
s (

4%
)

Gy
m

s a
nd

/o
r s

w
im

m
in

g 
po

ol
s (

12
%

)

Ri
gh

ts
 o

f w
ay

 (3
%

)

Sc
ho

ol
s (

6%
)

Da
y 

se
rv

ic
es

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 (1

%
)

Ch
ild

re
n’

s p
la

y 
ar

ea
s (

5%
)

Vi
sit

in
g 

ca
re

 h
om

es
/c

hi
ld

re
n’

s h
om

es
 (4

%
)

Br
id

ge
nd

 b
us

 st
at

io
n 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
to

ile
ts

) (
5%

)

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s f
or

 a
du

lts
 w

ith
 d

isa
bi

lit
ie

s,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

le
ar

ni
ng

 d
isa

bi
lit

ie
s (

3%
)

Th
e 

Gr
an

d 
Pa

vi
lio

n 
(6

%
)

O
th

er
 (1

%
)

0
700

Respondents stated that the services that they had missed the most were community 
recycling centres, followed by gyms and or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields. 

68 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 64 comments made have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Public toilets 20
Playing and attending sports, going to the gym and sports classes 9
Pubs, restaurants and coffee shops, we need to support businesses 7
Meeting friends and voluntary groups 6
Private sector places missed: garden centres, barbers and cinema 4
Travel: Car parks, community bus service, road safety training for children 
and being able to travel outside the borough/Wales 4
Support: from Early Help, mental health group, shielding information and 
seeing a doctor in the same room 4
Hedge cutting/ road repairs should have continued 2
Beaches 2
I do not use these services 2
Services should have remained/Civic should have adapted to open 2
Recycling and delivery of recycling bags 2
School and youth clubs 2
Access to church and church halls 1
Adult learning classes 1
Losing our green spaces for developments 1
Lack of police presence and traffic wardens 1
Prompt planning department and building control 1

Page 41

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


22

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Where ‘other’ was stated, the most common themes are public toilets, followed by playing 
and attending sports, going to gym and sports classes and then pubs, restaurants and coffee 
shops, we need to support businesses. 

7.2.1.3  Of the following services being maintained, which services do you think should 
be a priority in making Bridgend County Borough Fit for the Future? Please tick all that 
apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 9820 responses were received 
within this question

1185

773 666 742

390 382 434

763
581

757 745
581 506 605

188

446

76

Ge
ne

ra
l w

as
te

 a
nd

 re
cy

cl
in

g 
co

lle
ct

io
n 

se
rv

ic
es

 (1
2%

)

St
re

et
 li

gh
tin

g,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

re
sp

on
di

ng
 to

 st
re

et
 li

gh
tin

g 
fa

ul
ts

 (8
%

)

Em
pl

oy
ab

ili
ty

 B
rid

ge
nd

 (7
%

)

Ho
us

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 h
om

el
es

sn
es

s s
er

vi
ce

s (
7.

5%
)

Cu
st

om
er

 se
rv

ic
es

 (4
%

)

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f o
nl

in
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 (4
%

)

CC
TV

 c
am

er
as

 (4
%

)

Do
m

es
tic

 a
bu

se
 su

pp
or

t (
8%

)

Yo
ut

h 
se

rv
ic

es
 (6

%
)

Ad
ul

t a
nd

 c
hi

ld
re

n’
s s

oc
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s (
8%

)

Hi
gh

w
ay

s a
nd

 m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 (7
.5

%
)

Gr
ee

n 
sp

ac
es

 a
nd

 ri
gh

ts
 o

f w
ay

 p
at

hs
 (6

%
)

Su
pp

or
t f

or
 le

ar
ne

rs
 w

ith
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 n
ee

ds
 (5

%
)

Fa
m

ily
 su

pp
or

t s
er

vi
ce

s (
6%

)

Vi
rt

ua
l a

nd
 w

eb
ca

st
 c

ou
nc

il 
m

ee
tin

gs
 (2

%
)

Li
br

ar
y 

se
rv

ic
es

 (4
.5

%
)

O
th

er
 (0

.5
%

)

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400

Of the services maintained throughout the pandemic respondents stated that the services 
that should be made a priority for the future are general waste and recycling collection 
services followed by street lighting including responding to street lighting faults and then 
domestic abuse support. 

76 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 65 comments made have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Gyms and swimming pools, recreation and leisure facilities and sports fields 14
Public transport, cycle paths, active travel links, the bus station and road 
safety training 8
Community recycling centres, litter, fly tipping and road repairs 7
Support town centres/local businesses 5

Page 42

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


23

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Public toilets 4
Face to face services/continue to provide all services 4
Maintain green spaces/stop building houses on green areas 3
Health and mental health support 3
Support for the elderly and care homes 3
Opening disabled facilities and provide information in BSL 3
Safety issues i.e. neighbourhood security, domestic abuse and homelessness 2
Schools 2
Theatres, art and culture 2
Adult learning classes 1
Be able to contact council staff directly 1
Council Tax Freeze 1
Building control 1
The use of new technologies and online training 1
Look after our old Army, Navy and Air Force better 1

Where ‘other’ was stated, the most common themes are gyms and swimming pools, 
recreation and leisure facilities and sports fields, followed by public transport, cycle paths, 
active travel links, the bus station and road safety training and then community recycling 
centres, litter, fly tipping and road repairs

7.2.1.4 Do you think council staff working from home should be developed and 
adopted as an approach for the future?

A total of 1402 people responded to this question. 

819

274
309

Yes (58%) No (20%) Unsure (22%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

58% of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be adopted as an 
approach for the future. 22% were unsure and 20% did not agree with this proposal. 

Page 43

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


24

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.1.5 Please give reasons for your response, including any benefits or 
disadvantages.

1055 comments made have been themed in the table below. Some comments contained 
multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Benefit: will save the council money i.e. less need for office space, utilities, 
staff expenses etc. 200
Benefit: working from home is more environmentally friendly, there is less 
traffic and lowers our carbon footprint 152
Benefit: provides flexibility, a better work life balance and improved staff 
wellbeing 120
Disadvantage: limited interaction with colleagues, staff may feel isolated 
and cause mental health issues 114
If staff are happy working from home and services and standards can be 
maintained then it should continue 76
Disadvantage: staff may be less productive through lack of motivation, IT 
failure or lack of office space at home, there is no accountability and 
difficult for managers to monitor 70
Disadvantage: some residents prefer face to face interactions or are 
unable to access online services 68
It depends on the role, some roles can be carried out at home and some 
can not 60
Service has been worse since staff have been working from home i.e. 
difficult to get through on the phone, no responses to emails and 
information between teams are disjointed 58
Benefit: staff are more productive working from home 56
Civic should be open and available to residents/need to get back to normal 56
Benefit: will keep staff safe from Covid-19 and limit the spread of infection 55
Both agile and office working should be available, this would be better for 
staff and residents 48
Need to ask staff for their preference, some prefer working from home and 
some prefer working in an office environment 40
Benefit: saves staff travel time 37
Unsure 34
Need to adapt to agile working/working from home is the future 26
Disadvantage: less footfall in town so less income for local businesses 20
Disadvantage: safeguarding concerns i.e. access to personal information 
and personal conversation/details available at home 7
Pay cut for all home workers 7

The most common themes are benefit: will save the council money i.e. less need for office 
space, utilities, staff expenses etc., followed by benefit: working from home is more 
environmentally friendly, there is less traffic and lowers our carbon footprint and then 
benefit: provides flexibility, a better work life balance and improved staff wellbeing. 

7.2.1.6 Are there any other services that you think should be prioritised when 
decisions are being made for and in the future?

Page 44

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


25

www.bridgend.gov.uk

501 comments made have been themed in the table below. Some comments contained 
multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Social services and support for vulnerable people i.e. the elderly, children 
and disabled people 94
Health and wellbeing, mental health support and support services i.e. 
housing and homelessness, early help, domestic abuse 68
Refuse and waste, drain clearing, street cleaning and improved recycling 
centres 55
Support the economy, tourism, businesses, town centres and employability 41
Environmental issues, climate change, outdoor and green spaces, rights of 
way and parks 39
Schools 36
Culture and sport: swimming pools, gyms, libraries and community sports 28
Better communication with residents, customer services and faster 
response to resident's queries 22
Make internal savings, provide value for money, work within all areas of the 
borough and have better scrutiny of decisions 22
Unsure 22
Police and community safety i.e. CCTV and more police and PSCOs on 
the streets 21
More services should available online but support given to people who 
can't access them 19
Services for young people 19
Highways, road and pavement repairs 15
Public transport and active travel including cycle routes 15
All services are important and we should get back to normal 10
Freeze/lower council tax 8
Early Help 7
Planning and building control 6
Welsh language services 4
Public toilets 3
Telephone service for grants, benefits and payment for pharmacies 2
Need more information in BSL 1
Work with third sector and voluntary organisations should be strengthened 1

The most common themes are social services and support for vulnerable people i.e. the 
elderly, children and disabled people followed by health and wellbeing, mental health 
support and support services i.e. housing and homelessness, early help, domestic abuse 
and then refuse and waste, drain clearing, street cleaning and improved recycling centres

7.2.2 Business and the economy  

7.2.2.1 Supporting local businesses and the economy will be a priority for the future. 
What do you think are the most important factors the council should focus on?

Respondents were given information about the support that had already been provided to 
businesses throughout the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Page 45

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


26

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Respondents were asked to rate the importance of a range of factors for the council to 
focus on when supporting businesses in the future from very important to not important at 
all on a five point scale.

Support for local businesses both in terms of financial support and preparation for when 
lockdown restrictions have been eased.

A total of 1384 people responded to this question. 

647

560

149

18 10

Very important 
(47%)

Important (40%) Neutral (11%) Not very 
important (1.3%)

Not important at 
all (0.7%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

87% of respondents stated that support for local businesses was very important (47%) or 
important (40%). 11% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 2% 
felt that this was not very important (1.3%) or not important at all (0.7%)

Promote town centres as a place to visit
A total of 1365 people responded to this question. 

522

473

266

73
31

Very important 
(38%)

Important (35%) Neutral (20%) Not very 
important (5%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Page 46

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


27

www.bridgend.gov.uk

73% of respondents stated that promotion of town centres as a place to visit was very 
important (38%) or important (35%). 20% of respondents provided a neutral response to 
this question and 7% felt that this was not very important (5%) or not important at all (2%).

Support the visitor economy activities and services in our tourist attraction areas, for 
example Porthcawl

A total of 1367 people responded to this question. 

454

537

277

70
29

Very important 
(33%)

Important (40%) Neutral (20%) Not very 
important (5%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

73% of respondents stated that supporting the visitor economy activities and services in our 
tourist attraction areas was very important (33%) or important (40). 20% of respondents 
provided a neutral response to this question and 7% felt that this was not very important 
(5%) or not important at all (2%).

Sustainability of culture and leisure venues – pubs and clubs and restaurants

A total of 1371 people responded to this question. 

Page 47

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


28

www.bridgend.gov.uk

393

542

315

88

33

Very important 
(29%)

Important (40%) Neutral (23%) Not very 
important (6%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

69% of respondents stated that sustainability of culture and leisure venues was very 
important (29%) or important (40%). 23% of respondents provided a neutral response to 
this question and 8% felt that this was not very important (6%) or not important at all (2%).

Labour market opportunities (and our role in stimulus) e.g. additional apprentices.

A total of 1362 people responded to this question. 

573

510

239

31 9

Very important 
(42%)

Important (37%) Neutral (18%) Not very 
important (2%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

79% of respondents stated that labour market opportunities were very important (42%) or 
important (37%). 18% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 3% 
felt that this was not very important (2%) or not important at all (1%).
Business start-up support

A total of 1356 people responded to this question. 

Page 48

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


29

www.bridgend.gov.uk

394

565

332

48
17

Very important 
(29%)

Important (42%) Neutral (24%) Not very 
important (4%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

71% of respondents stated that business start-up was very important (29%) or important 
(42%). 24% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 5% felt that 
this was not very important (4%) or not important at all (1%).

7.2.2.2 Do you have any other ideas on how the council could support local businesses 
and the economy?

406 comments made have been themed in the table below. Some comments contained 
multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Reduce business rates and rents 79
Need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, 
encourage more shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social 
behaviour 64
Better and free car parking 58
Support businesses financially, inform them of Covid-19 restrictions and 
ensure grants are paid out quickly 42
Advertise businesses, promote tourism and have more events, pop up 
shops and outdoor markets 36
Support businesses through training (such as trading online) and create a 
forum to offer mutual support and share best practice 35
Not sure this is a priority at the moment/just focus on current and essential 
businesses 21
Make internal savings i.e. reduce staff and number of councillors and 
wasting money 16
Support all business and not just a few i.e. start-ups, taxi services, market 
traders, social enterprise and producers that do not have premises 16
Listen to business owners needs 13
Use local/ British businesses 11
Work with schools and colleges to improve skills, create jobs and offer 
apprenticeships 10
Support businesses to invest in green technology 9
Invest in all areas in the borough 9
Improve public transport 8
De-pedestrianise the town centre 7

Page 49

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


30

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Reduce red tape/restrictions from council planning and allow residential 
living above shops 6
Pedestrianise the town centre 4
Need public toilets 2
Longer term planning and funding for the future 2
Support local volunteers to support work such as litter picking, delivering 
leaflets and social media 1
Not that I can think of, you have done a good job 1
Open the main offices to increase footfall in Bridgend and support local 
businesses 1

The most common themes were reduce business rates and rents followed by need to 
invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, encourage more shops, ensure 
cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour and then better and free car parking. 

7.2.3 Health and wellbeing  

7.2.3.1 Which services, if any, do you think are most important for us to focus on as 
we recover from the pandemic?  

Respondents were asked which services to help support our most vulnerable residents they 
thought were important for the council to focus on as we recover from the pandemic. 
Respondents were asked to rank services from very important to not important at all on a 
five point scale. 

Support for older people (continue contact with the most vulnerable in our communities to 
ensure their needs are met)

A total of 1396 people responded to this question. 

839

451

91
6 9

Very important 
(60%)

Important (32%) Neutral (7%) Not very 
important (0.4%)

Not important at 
all (0.6%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

92% of respondents stated that support for older people was very important (60%) or 
important (32%). 7% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 1% 
felt that this was not very important (0.4%) or not important at all (0.6%).

Page 50

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


31

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Homelessness (ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown restrictions 
ease)

A total of 1387 people responded to this question

617

512

204

33 21

Very important 
(44%)

Important (37%) Neutral (15%) Not very 
important (2.5%)

Not important at 
all (1.5%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

81% of respondents stated that ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as 
lockdown restrictions ease was very important (44%) or important (37%). 15% of 
respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 4% felt that this was not very 
important (2.5%) or not important at all (1.5%).

Food poverty – (for example should BCBC support and promote food banks and provide 
children eligible for free school meals with food parcels during school holidays)

A total of 1394 people responded to this question

684

401

216

62
31

Very important 
(49%)

Important (29%) Neutral (16%) Not very 
important (4%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

78% of respondents stated that food poverty – (for example should BCBC support and 
promote food banks and provide children eligible for free school meals with food parcels 
during school holidays) was very important (49%) or important (29%). 16% of respondents 
provided a neutral response to this question and 6% felt that this was not very important 
(4%) or not important at all (2%).

Page 51

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


32

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Council tax support for residents who had difficulty paying their council tax as a direct result 
of the pandemic i.e. council tax deferment or reduction scheme.

A total of 1384 people responded to this question

453

615

248

49
19

Very important 
(33%)

Important (44%) Neutral (18%) Not very 
important (4%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

77% of respondents stated that council tax support for residents who had difficulty paying 
their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic was very important (33%) or important 
(44%). 18% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 5% felt that 
this was not very important (4%) or not important at all (1%).

Online and blended learning by schools

A total of 1373 people responded to this question

478
442

348

65
40

Very important 
(35%)

Important (32%) Neutral (25%) Not very 
important (5%)

Not important at 
all (3%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

67% of respondents stated that online and blended learning by schools was very important 
(35%) or important (32%). 25% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question 
and 8% felt that this was not very important (5%) or not important at all (3%).

Page 52

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


33

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.3.2 More services have been delivered remotely or online (for example services 
such as period dignity, domestic abuse support, flying start, youth justice and youth 
services were adapted to online or remote delivery). 

Do you think this is an approach we should develop and adopt for the future?

733

284
366

Yes (53%) No (21%) Unsure (26%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

53% of respondents stated that the council should adopt more services being delivered 
remotely or online as an approach for the future. 26% of respondents were unsure and 21% 
did not support this proposal. 

7.2.3.3 Do you have any other examples of services you think could be delivered 
remotely?

285 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Face to face meetings are preferred/better for some people so both online 
and face to face services should be available 66
Some people are not able to access services online and some services 
would not work online e.g. domestic abuse services, social services and 
care and vulnerable should be supported face to face 51
All or as many services as possible, face to face contact could be delivered 
via webcam and zoom 43
Library services, online learning courses and online school services 
(although these need to be improved) 26
Unsure 15
Need to ensure online services are being delivered to a good standard 14
Customer services, admin, finance, Citizens Advice, legal advice and 
consumer rights 13
Online counselling and mental health support 10
Business support, employability and job centre 9
Other services: registrar, food parcel contacts, consultation surveys, 
shopmobility, probation, rights of way and street light faults 9
Health, online gym classes and GP services 8
Youth support services 7

Page 53

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


34

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Planning applications and building regulations 7
None 6
Social services, family support, early help and parenting groups 6
Council meetings 5
Housing and homelessness 5
Council tax bills and support and financial help 5
Recycling and waste i.e. book an appointment at the recycling centre, 
order recycling bags, donate clothes 4
Work with third sector to provide services 3
Blue badge applications and car park seasons online 3
Covid-19 rules and whistleblowing facility for non-compliance 3
Why not all councils in Wales use one call/online centre for all remote 
services 1
What about Welsh language services 1
More green initiatives e.g. installing solar panels on every home 1

The most common themes were face to face meetings are preferred/better for some people 
so both online and face to face services should be available followed by some people are 
not able to access services online and some services would not work online e.g. domestic 
abuse services, social services and care and vulnerable should be supported face to face 
and then all or as many services as possible, face to face contact could be delivered via 
webcam and zoom. 

7.2.3.4 During the Coronavirus (Covid-19) outbreak, how important do you think it was 
to have support from community organisations in Bridgend County Borough?

A total of 1401 people responded to this question

825

380

163

17 16

Very important 
(59%)

Important (27%) Neutral (12%) Not very 
important (1%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

86% of respondents stated that support from community organisations was very important 
(59%) or important (27%). 12% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question 
and 2% felt that this was not very important (1%) or not important at all (1%).

7.2.3.5 In setting priorities for the future, do you think the council should protect 
funding for third sector organisations?

A total of 1393 people responded to this question

Page 54

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


35

www.bridgend.gov.uk

947

131

315

Yes (68%) No (9%) Unsure (23%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

68% of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third sector. 23% 
of respondents were unsure and 9% did not agree with this proposal. 

7.2.3.6 Do you have any other comments on how Bridgend County Borough Council 
should work with third sector organisations in the future?

255 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below: 

Theme No.
Third sector organisations have done a good job during the pandemic and 
should be supported 42
Organisations that receive funding should be accountable and should be 
monitored on a regular basis 38
Improve partnership working with BCBC and between third sector 
organisations to ensure no duplication of work and all vulnerable people 
are supported 28
These should not be funded by the local authority 24
Provide extra funding to support third sector organisations 22
Need better communication to residents on what services are available 
from third sector organisations 17
Fund a wider variety and more local third sector organisations 17
Areas to support: older people, learning disabilities, food poverty, sports 
clubs, homelessness, young people, home repairs for council tenants and 
drug and alcohol services 15
Support the third sector through training, rate and rent relief and sharing 
premises 13
Unsure what value the third sector brings/do not know about the third 
sector/have never received these services 13
Promote volunteering and support volunteers 10
Counselling services and mental health 7
All community organisations must be free from political ideology 2
Do not panic people about Covid-19 2

Page 55

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


36

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
The question is all well and good if BCBC were actually working during this 
Covid-19 crisis 1
Access for BSL? 1
Give town and community councils the status they deserve and pass down 
more responsibilities to them 1
Need information on how vulnerable family members in different counties 
can be interacted with during local lockdown 1
Where will the funding come from? 1

The most common themes are third sector organisations have done a good job during the 
pandemic and should be supported followed by organisations that receive funding should be 
accountable and should be monitored on a regular basis and then improve partnership 
working with BCBC and between third sector organisations to ensure no duplication of work 
and all vulnerable people are supported. 

7.2.4 Customer access to Civic Offices   

7.2.4.1 Have you missed being able to come in to Civic Offices?

1387 people responded to this question. 

261

1126

Yes (19%) No (81%)
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

81% of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices. 19% stated 
that they had missed coming into Civic Offices. 

7.2.4.2 How have you accessed services while Civic Offices were closed? Please select 
all that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 2068 responses were received 
within this question

Page 56

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


37

www.bridgend.gov.uk

576

507

268

613

50 54

Telephone (28%) Email (24%) Council social 
media: Facebook, 

twitter, 
Instagram etc 

(13%)

Website (30%) Chatbot (2%) Other (3%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

While unable to access Civic Offices the means most commonly used to access services has 
been the website, followed by telephone and then email. 

54 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 47 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.
None/ I haven't 20
I did not bother trying to access services/ was unable to access services as 
unable to get through 7
Letter/post 3
Through work/I am employed by BCBC 3
Contacting MP/AM, Local Councillor 2
Government website 1
Fix My Street 1
Council website 1
Had no idea it was closed 1
My account 1
Newsletter 1
Not everyone wants to use social media 1
Talk to us 1
Refuse collections and refuse bag delivery dates. 1
Text 1
Television 1
You should not mistake a lack of visits to Civic Offices as indication of the 
lack of need for people to be able to visit Civic Offices. 1

The most common themes are none/I haven't, followed by I did not bother trying to access 
services/was unable to access services as unable to get through and then letter/post and 
through work/I am employed by BCBC. 

Page 57

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


38

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.4.3 Have you contacted customer services since the council offices closed?

1373 people responded to this question. 

507

866

Yes (37%) No (63%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

63% of respondents stated that they have not accessed customer services since the council 
offices closed. 37% stated that they had. 

7.2.4.4 If ‘yes’, how did you contact customer services? Please select all that apply.

661 people responded to this question. 

390

4

228

17 11 3 1 7

Telephone 
(59%)

SMS Text 
(0.6%)

Email 
(34%)

Facebook 
(3%)

Twitter 
(1.6%)

Letter 
(0.6%)

Text 
Relay 
(0.2%)

Other 
(1%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Respondents who had accessed customer services had done this by telephone (59%) 
followed by email (34%) and then social media (4.6%). 

Page 58

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


39

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 5 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.
Internet/website 2
Blue badge renewal 1
Regarding refuse collection and new food bags 1
Fix my street 1

7.2.4.5 Have you, or someone you know, accessed any of the following services during 
the pandemic? Please select all that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 2068 responses were received 
within this question

268

159

738

99
72 89

125
147

116 108 119
86

152
116

46

104 122

203

65

Co
un

ci
l t

ax
 (9

%
)

Hi
gh

w
ay

s (
5%

)

Re
cy

cl
in

g 
an

d 
w

as
te

 (2
5%

)

Ad
ul

t s
oc

ia
l c

ar
e 

(3
%

)

Ch
ild

re
ns

 so
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

(2
%

)

Co
m

pl
ai

nt
s (

3%
)

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 (4

%
)

Ro
ad

s,
 tr

an
sp

or
t a

nd
 

pa
rk

in
g 

(5
%

)

Be
ne

fit
s a

nd
 su

pp
or

t (
4%

)

Ho
us

in
g 

(4
%

)

Bl
ue

 b
ad

ge
 (4

%
)

Ch
ild

ca
re

 fo
r k

ey
w

or
ke

rs
 

(3
%

)
Sc

ho
ol

 
op

en
in

g/
re

gi
st

ra
tio

n 
(5

%
)

Sc
ho

ol
 m

ea
ls/

pa
ck

ed
 lu

nc
h 

or
 d

el
iv

er
y 

of
 fo

od
 p

ar
ce

ls 
(4

%
)

Ho
m

el
es

sn
es

s s
up

po
rt

 (2
%

)

Bu
sin

es
s s

up
po

rt
/g

ra
nt

s 
(4

%
)

Ad
vi

ce
 b

ec
au

se
 y

ou
 o

r 
so

m
eo

ne
 y

ou
 k

no
w

 w
as

 
sh

ie
ld

in
g 

(4
%

)
Co

vi
d-

19
 re

la
te

d 
ad

vi
ce

 
(7

%
) O

th
er

 (2
%

)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

The services most commonly accessed by respondents were recycling as waste, followed by 
council tax and then Covid-19 related advice. 

65 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 55 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.

Page 59

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


40

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Planning and building control 11
Register birth/death 5
I have not accessed these services 4
Healthcare/Covid-19 information 3
Library services 3
Schools information/ Supply Teacher registration 3
Protected trees department/Conservation team 3
Information about cemeteries 2
As a Councillor I access many of these/have regular contact 2
Electoral services 2
Freedom of information 2
Street lighting, fly tipping, request new food bin 4
Animal licenses/RSPCA 2
Community asset transfer/Parks and leisure 2
Care homes 1
Domestic abuse 1
Shared services for advice with online purchases 1
I have given up on BCBC services 1
Phoned to speak to someone customer service 1
Operations Officer 1
Rights of way 1

The most common themes within ‘other’ were planning and building control followed by 
register birth/death and then I have not accessed these services. 

7.2.4.6 Since closing our face-to-face channel for customers in Civic Offices, we have 
continued to provide services over the telephone, email and online.  Do you think it is 
a priority for the council to reopen Civic Offices to the public?

1373 people responded to this question. 

419

575

397

Yes (30%) No (41%) Unsure (29%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Page 60

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


41

www.bridgend.gov.uk

41% of respondents stated that they did not think it was a priority to reopen Civic Offices to 
the public. 29% were unsure and 30% stated that it should be a propriety to reopen Civic 
Offices.  

7.2.4.7 If yes, which services do you feel you need to be able to access face to face?

274 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
All/most services 99
Not everyone is able to access services online, some people prefer face to 
face contact and it is a better service face to face 78
Housing and homelessness 31
Council tax and benefits support 23
Child and adult social services 13
Civic offices should be open for the public, we need to get back to normal 13
Customer services/reception 12
Personal or sensitive issues and services for vulnerable people i.e. elderly 
people and disabled people 11
Street cleaning and lighting, drain cleaning, refuse and recycling 6
Blue badge application 4
Planning 4
Domestic abuse 3
Highways and road repairs 3
External services: Calan DVS, Citizens Advice and the job centre 3
Covid related problems and advice 2
BSL 1
Complaints 1
Just Ask drop in service for young people 1
Library 1
Shopmobility 1
Would save money on office space 1

The most common themes within ‘other’ were planning and building control followed by 
register birth/death and then I have not accessed these services. 

7.2.4.8 Given the progress made in digitalising customer services, do you think the 
council should switch to an appointment based system when Civic Offices reopen?

1373 people responded to this question. 

Page 61

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


42

www.bridgend.gov.uk

840

233
318

Yes (60%) No (17%) Unsure (23%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

60% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen the council should move to 
an appointment based system. 23% were unsure and 17% did not agree with this proposal. 

7.2.5 Digitalisation 

7.2.5.1 More people are now accessing services online as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic. Have you, or has someone on your behalf, accessed council services 
online?

1380 people responded to this question. 

760

51

569

Yes I have accessed 
services online (55%)

Someone has accessed 
services online on my 

behalf (4%)

No, I have not accessed 
services online (41%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

55% of respondents stated that they had accessed services online and a further 4% stated 
that someone had accessed services online on their behalf.  41% stated that they had not 
accessed services online. 

7.2.5.2 When Civic Offices reopen will you continue to access services online?

1309 people responded to this question. 

Page 62

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


43

www.bridgend.gov.uk

773

271 265

Yes, I will continue to access 
services online (59%)

No, I will return to Civic 
Offices (21%)

I have always preferred to 
access online services (20%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

59% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices reopen they will continue to access 
services online. 20% stated that they had always preferred to access services online. 21% of 
respondents stated that they would return to accessing services in Civic Offices when it 
reopens. 

Respondents who stated ‘no I will return to Civic Office’ to this question were asked why?

185 responses were received. The responses are themed in the table below: 

Theme No.
Prefer to speak to someone face to face/rather human contact 91
Face to face provides a better service i.e. not waiting on the phone and 
issues are dealt with quicker 39
I am not online/ do not have a computer and/or internet 37
Both should be available i.e. online and face to face/some services would 
be better deliver face to face 6
BCBC website is difficult to use 5
As a County Councillor most of my contacts are through the referral system 1
I can't think of reason for making contact. 1
Our council staff and councillors must be available and accountable to local 
people in their community 1
BSL? Nothing online 1
Unsure if you could complete a bus pass application online 1
Was unable to complete a blue badge application online 1
It’s easier 1

The most common themes for those that said that they would not continue to access services 
online with Civic Offices reopen were prefer to speak to someone face to face/rather human 
contact followed by face to face provides a better service i.e. not waiting on the phone and 
issues are dealt with quicker and then I am not online/ do not have a computer and/or internet.

Page 63

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


44

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.5.3 What support would help you, or someone you know, to access more services 
online? Please select all that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 1786 responses were received 
within this question

210 244 272
205

785

70

Community 
learning sessions 

(12%)

Videos on 
Bridgend 

Council’s website 
(14%)

Printable ‘how to’ 
guides (15%)

Appointments 
with a member of 

the customer 
service team to 
show you (11%)

I don't need any 
help accessing 
services online 

(44%)

Other (4%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

44% of respondents stated that they did not need any help to access services online. 15% 
stated that they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful and 14% stated that they would 
like to have videos on the Bridgend council website. 12% of respondents stated that they 
would like access to community learning sessions and 11% stated that they would like 
appointments with a member of the customer services team to show them how to access 
services online. 

70 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 61 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.
Some people are not able to access the internet or struggle to access 
online services 20
Better website, search engine and user friendly interface 13
I want less online/prefer face to face contact 8
BSL: you need to say BSL interpreter available if needed/subtitles on help 
videos/ SMS support for the deaf 3
It would help if emails were responded to 3
Promote what services are available online 3
Provide a helpline 2
Produce 'how to' guides to be distributed with other items such as waste 
collection calendars/Mailshot leaflet with ‘how to’ details 2
Brochure listing services and telephone numbers 1
Courses such as learn direct 1
Council tax freeze 1
Jobs 1

Page 64

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


45

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Show them when they drop in 1
Wales needs to come in line with the rest of the UK. 1
Safe spaces to access services online, i.e. library/internet cafe 1

The most common themes were some people are not able to access the internet or struggle 
to access online services followed by better website, search engine and user friendly 
interface and then want less online/prefer face to face contact. 

7.2.5.4 Have you signed up to govDelivery service: a free online service that enables 
residents to receive tailored council news and information and select updates on the 
subjects and news which interest you most?

1262 people responded to this question. 

305

957

Yes (24%) No (76%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

76% of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery. 24% of respondents 
stated that they had. 

Respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question were asked why not?

619 responses were received. The responses are themed in the table below: 

Theme No.
Was not aware of this service 436
Not needed/required/interested 49
Can find information independently through the internet, newspapers, 
social media, contacting the council etc… 34
Do not own a computer, access to the internet and do not feel confident 
online/prefer to speak to someone 34
I think I have signed up/I intend to sign up 26
Already receive too much information 13
Not interested in BCBC news, waste of time and money 14
Don't know 5
Not sure about the service/Unsure I would use it or it would benefit my 
family 4
I receive all information via emails in work 2

Page 65

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


46

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Because of the councils attack on our green spaces I don’t want anything 
from the council 1
No information in BSL 1

The most common themes were was not aware of this service, followed by not 
needed/required/interested and then can find information independently through the internet, 
newspapers, social media, contacting the council etc.

Respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question were asked what other information they 
thought could be included?

86 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
There is enough information and I am satisfied with the amount of 
information included 20
Current issues (including Covid-19 figures and restrictions) , budget 
reviews, updates on council projects and future plans 16
Road works and planning applications 10
Unsure 10
Recycling and waste i.e. how to report litter and dog fouling, information on 
community recycling centres and pollution 'hot spots' 6
Local community and county borough council meetings and minutes, 
including who votes for what 5
Staff contact information 4
Library and sport centre timetable and information on the privatisation of 
sports clubs 4
Local business news 3
What's on and events 3
Public transport information and cycle paths 3
School building programme, schools terms dates and times 3
Health and well-being support groups, carers support and help numbers 3
Good new stories 2
Jobs/one email to click to job page 2
More news from across the borough, not just Bridgend 2
Help to claim benefits 1
More community based online consultations (like this) 1
Updates on crime figures 1
Opening times 1

The most common themes were that there is enough information and I am satisfied with the 
amount of information included followed by current issues (including Covid-19 figures and 
restrictions) , budget reviews, updates on council projects and future plans and then road 
works and planning applications.

Page 66

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


47

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.6 Council tax levels  

7.2.6.1 Which of the statements below best represents your views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22?

1262 people responded to this question. 

478 483

255

98

Keep council tax at the same 
level, which would result in a 

reduction in the level of 
services provided (because 

costs and demand are rising) 
(36%)

Increase council tax a bit to 
help protect the most 

important services where 
possible (a rise of 4.5 per cent 

would represent £1.33 per 
week on a band D property) 

(37%)

Increase council tax more 
significantly to protect more 
services (a rise of 6 per cent 
would represent £1.77 per 

week on a band D property) 
(19%)

Increase council tax by as 
much as is needed to 

maintain all council services 
at existing levels (a rise of 16 

percent would represent  
£4.73 per week on a band D 

property) (8%)

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500
550

 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax a bit to help protect 
the most important services where possible (4.5% increase);

 36% of respondents stated to keep council tax levels the same level, which would 
result in a reduction in the level of services provided;

 19% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax more significantly to 
protect more services (6% increase);

 8% of respondents were prepared to pay as much as is needed to maintain all 
council services at existing levels (16% increase);

The responses to the question about council tax increases also have been analysed by 
demographic information (age and employment status). 

Council tax and age 

When comparing age with response to the amount of council tax a respondent was 
prepared to pay we found:

 Those aged under 18, 18-24, 25-34, 35-46 and 55-64 chose ‘keep council tax levels 
the same’, followed by ‘would increase council tax a bit to help protect the most 
important services’ (4.5%), followed by ‘increase council tax more significantly to 
protect more services’ (6%) and then ‘increase council tax as much as is needed to 
maintain all council services at existing levels’ (16%).

 Those aged 45-54 and 65-74 chose ‘increase council tax a bit to help protect the 
most important services’ (4.5%), followed by ‘keep council tax levels the same’, 

Page 67

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


48

www.bridgend.gov.uk

followed by ‘increase council tax more significantly to protect more services’ (6%) 
and then ‘increase council tax as much as is needed to maintain all council services 
at existing levels’ (16%).

 Those aged 75+ chose ‘increase council tax a bit to help protect the most important 
services’ (4.5%), followed by ‘increase council tax more significantly to protect more 
services’ (6%), followed by ‘keep council tax levels the same’ and then ‘increase 
council tax as much as is needed to maintain all council services at existing levels’ 
(16%).

 Other than for those aged 75+ there was not a significant difference in the responses 
to this question by age

Council tax and employment status 

When comparing employment status with response to the amount of council tax a 
respondent was prepared to pay we found:

 All respondents with the exception of those who identified themselves as retired or 
as carers chose ‘keep council tax levels the same’ as their most popular response;

 Respondents who identified themselves as retired or as a carer chose ‘increase 
council tax a bit to help protect the most important services where possible’ (4.5%) 
as their most popular response. 

 Respondents who identified themselves as a student, full time employed, part time 
employed or unemployed chose ‘keep levels the same’ followed by increase by 
4.5%, then increase by 6% and then increase by 16%

 Respondents who identified themselves as retired or as a carer chose increase by 
4.5% followed by ‘keep levels the same’, then increase by 6% and then increase by 
16%.

 There was not a significant difference in the responses to this question by 
employment status.

7.2.7 The future

7.2.7.1 Given the changing nature of how services are delivered, what do you think our 
long term priorities should be for the future? Please choose up to three services.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 3736 responses were received 
within this question

Page 68

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


49

www.bridgend.gov.uk

758

573

466 462

326
282

39

220

610

Make 
efficiencies in-

house i.e. 
review 

processes, 
mileage 

allowances etc. 
(20%)

Encourage 
citizens to take 

more 
responsibility 

i.e. litter, 
graffiti etc. 

(15%)

Develop and 
promote more 
online services 

(13%)

Focus on 
economic 
growth i.e. 
supporting 
businesses 

(12%)

Support 
employment 

and 
community 

learning (9%)

Charge 
residents for 

more services 
instead of 

losing them 
completely 

(8%)

Reduce all 
levels of 

service (1%)

Only focus on 
services that 
support the 

most 
vulnerable in 
communities 

(6%)

Focus on 
services that 

benefit 
everyone in 
the borough 

(16%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

The most popular long term priorities were make efficiencies in-house, followed by focus on 
services that benefit everyone in the borough and then encourage citizens to take more 
responsibility. 

7.2.7.2 What service areas should the council prioritise while recovering from the 
pandemic? Please choose up to three services.

572

685
754

466

234
302

148 143

326 298

Recyc
lin

g a
nd w

ast
e (1

4%)

Sch
ools (

17%)

Care
 of o

lder p
eople (1

9%)

Se
rvi

ce
s f

or d
isa

bled people (1
2%)

Educa
tio

nal 
su

pport 
servi

ce
s (

6%)

Child
ren’s s

ocia
l se

rvi
ce

s (
8%)

Adult s
ocia

l se
rvi

ce
s (

4%)

Lib
rar

ies, a
rt 

ce
ntre

s a
nd th

eatr
es (

4%)

Sp
ort 

an
d re

cre
ati

onal 
servi

ce
s (

8%)

High
way

s a
nd in

fra
str

uctu
re im

prove
ments 

(8%)
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800

The most popular services to prioritise were care for older people, followed by schools and 
then recycling and waste.  

7.2.7.3 Are there any other services you think the council should prioritise for the 
future?

410 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Page 69

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


50

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Services that support vulnerable people including older people, disabled 
people, carers, care homes, domestic abuse, drug and alcohol services 
and homelessness 57
Climate change, green and outdoor spaces 46
Mental health, wellbeing, early help and children and adults social care 43
Support the economy i.e. employability, tourism, businesses and town 
centres 41
Recycling, waste and street cleaning 36
Education, schools, children and youth services 36
Make internal savings/ensure value for money on services and have strong 
decision making 23
Listen and work more with residents and communities i.e. with TCCs, 
community groups, churches, community learning and support community 
centres 23
Highways/road repairs/street lighting/drainage 19
All services are important/no more cuts 17
Sports, gyms, leisure centres and swimming pools 15
Regenerate the area, reuse/develop empty properties and make people 
feel safe i.e. increase CCTV, policing and reduce anti-social behaviour 15
Have better/free car parking and improve transport: reinstate bus services, 
cycle and active travel links 14
Develop online services but support those who are unable to access them 11
Better infrastructure, planning of developments and stop overdevelopment 10
Libraries, arts and culture i.e. music in education, cinemas, the Grand 
Pavilion and Maesteg Town Hall 10
Reduce/maintain/get rid of council tax and offer more reductions for those 
who need it 9
Public toilets 5
It is a difficult job to prioritise service services/services are not run properly 
now 4
Only deliver statutory services and those which focus on all not the few 4
Managing difficult tenants and enforcing Covid-19 restrictions 3
Need more information in BSL and support for non-native English/Welsh 
speakers such as having access to standard documents 3
Promote the public to take responsibility for their actions 2
Better pest control service 1
Get council tax from Trecco Bay 1
Stop paying police and c rime commissioner 1
Replace purple recycling bags to improve people's dignity 1
Future generations act compliance 1

The most common themes were services that support vulnerable people including older 
people, disabled people, carers, care homes, domestic abuse, drug and alcohol services and 
homelessness followed by climate change, green and outdoor spaces and then mental 
health, wellbeing, early help and children and adults social care.

Page 70

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


51

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.7.4 What lessons from the Covid-19 Coronavirus pandemic do you think we should 
consider when setting our medium and long term funding priorities?

517 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Have an emergency fund, not waste money and make internal savings i.e. 
streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts 89
Need a caring society, support social services and vulnerable people 
including children, older people, disabled people, care homes, carers and 
homelessness 65
BCBC need to plan and prepare for the future and be adaptable 63
There should be more online services and support people to access them 58
Staff working from home should continue, be promoted to businesses and 
savings made from unused council offices 47
Protect people from Covid-19, promote public health and provide mental 
health support 37
The importance of communities and third sector, need to work closer and 
support communities 37
Support businesses, town centres and employability 35
BCBC need to listen to residents and communities and ensure good 
communication 25
Green spaces are important and need more focus on climate change 25
Transport: ensure the bus station is open, more public transport, free car 
parking and more active travel links i.e. cycle lanes and walking routes 18
Enforcement of rules, including Covid restrictions, littering, dog fouling and 
fly tipping 15
Preventing/removing lockdowns, reopening Civic and getting back to 
normal, don't rely on Central Government for directions as to what you can 
and cannot do 12
Recycling and recycling centres need to be improved 11
Council tax should stay the same/be lowered and people struggling to pay 
should be supported 10
Schools and education 10
Protect and maintain essential services 9
Support the NHS/Covid specific hospitals 9
Have learned nothing additional/ we are still learning 6
Better programmes of redevelopment (including Salt Lake) and stop 
building more houses on green spaces 4
Provide services for everyone and not the few 4
Gyms and sport activities 3
Pay less benefits to people who abuse the system and people who always 
want financial support should give their time to the community by way of 
repayment 3
Maintain public toilets 2

Page 71

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


52

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Why am I paying for a crime commissioner that does nothing 1
You are doing a good job 1

The most common themes were have an emergency fund, not waste money and make 
internal savings i.e. streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts followed by need a caring society, support social services and vulnerable 
people including children, older people, disabled people, care homes, carers and 
homelessness and then BCBC need to plan and prepare for the future and be adaptable. 

7.2.8 Any other comments  

7.2.8.1 Do you have any other comments to ensure Bridgend County Borough 
becomes Fit for the Future?

Finally, respondents were asked if they had any further comments that they would like to 
make. 407 comments were made in response to this question and have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Make internal saving i.e. number of staff and councillors, pay, expenses 
and review funded external partners 54
Evaluate spending, provide value for money and provide more clarity on 
where money is spent 49
Need to be more prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans 
and decisions for the future 44
Need to listen to residents and improve communications and 
correspondence 37
Support the economy, businesses and invest in town centres including 
more seating areas and toilets 34
Keep the county clean and tidy, focus on recycling and improve community 
recycling centres 32
Need to address climate change, environmental issues and protect our 
outdoor and green spaces 32
You are doing a good job, staff and services have been delivered in a 
difficult time, keep trying 26
Try and care for people, bring communities together and support 
vulnerable people 26
Do not raise council tax/council tax should be levied based on services 
accessed 19
Support gyms, leisure centres and promote health, wellbeing and mental 
health 18
Encourage residents to take responsibility, work more closely with 
communities and with churches, TCCs and the third sector 16
Better planning of developments and improve car parking 14
Invest in digitalisation e.g. better website, remote working and remote 
delivery 11
Invest in children and schools 10

Page 72

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


53

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Support all areas in the county borough 9
Improve transport, keep the bus station open, cycle lanes and taxi service 8
Limit the impact of Covid-19, communicate and enforce restrictions 8
Remember to support residents who are unable to access online services 5
Merge/work with neighbouring councils 2
Need to improve communication in BSL 2
Other services to keep open: libraries, cemeteries 2
Object to paying money to the Police and Crime Commissioner 2
Stop bilingual communication and save money 2

The most common themes were make internal saving i.e. number of staff and councillors, 
pay, expenses and review funded external partners followed by evaluate spending, provide 
value for money and provide more clarity on where money is spent and then need to be 
more prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans and decisions for the future. 

8. Social media, email letter and telephone responses

During the consultation period there were 201 interactions on our social media channels, 
122 of which were in response to the social media polls. 

79 social media comments, three emails, one letter and two telephone calls have been 
themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:

Theme No.
BCBC need to manage spending, stop funding Cardiff City Deal, be more 
transparent, make decisions and make internal savings 21
BCBC don't listen to residents/will do what they want 7
Stop building on green spaces (including Brackla fields)/ protect green 
spaces 6
Better planning, improve roads, pavements and the toilets at the bus 
station 5
Don't blame Covid-19 for cuts to services and increasing council tax 5
It will take more than a survey/survey should be more accessible 5
Not convinced Bridgend is fit for the future 5
Request for paper copies of the survey 5
Support businesses i.e. cut business rates and pay grants faster 4
Consultation query/share 4
Support vulnerable people i.e., the young, old, those in poverty and 
suffering mental health issues 4
More town centre support/development 3
The survey is an opportunity to have your say 3
Return the school bus service 2
Council is only interested in raising council tax 1
Help young people to get jobs from school/college 1
Use social media more to gain views 1
Pay cut for public sector workers 1

Page 73

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


54

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Some council services are excellent 1
Some services do not respond when you contact them 1
Lack of public services - toilets 1
Request to be removed from Citizens’ Panel 1
Get rid of the labour controlled council in Bridgend 1
Ruination of the regeneration of Porthcawl 1
Thank you for this significant initiative 1

The most common themes were BCBC need to manage spending, stop funding Cardiff City 
Deal, be more transparent, make decisions and make internal savings followed by BCBC 
don't listen to residents/will do what they want and then stop building on green spaces 
(including Brackla fields)/ protect green spaces. 

9. Town and Community Council meetings and Elected Member’s online 
workshops

The Consultation and Engagement Team attended nine Town and Community Council online 
meetings and engaged 39 BCBC members during two online workshops. Comments that 
were made during the meetings/workshops were noted and are detailed in the table below:

Theme No.
BCBC have maintained services well during the pandemic 14
Questions around the consultation process and timeline 10
Have to remember those who are unable to access services online 8
Need to support businesses and town centres 8
Third Sector have done a good job during the pandemic and should be 
supported 8
Difficult to engage residents in the current climate, we will promote the 
consultation 7
Questions around Welsh Government funding and financial losses during 
the pandemic 7
Need to improve response times when someone contacts the council 6
Need to enforcement Covid-19 restrictions 4
Need to open civic for residents and support footfall in the town centre 4
Develop closer working with TCCs 3
A council tax increase would be difficult 2
Everything will be different going forward, we need to learn from our 
mistakes 2
Questions regarding council tax 2
A lot of residents have got concerns for Keir services 1
Access to the public toilets 1
Need to ring fence funding for education 1

The most common themes were BCBC have maintained services well during the pandemic 
followed by questions around the consultation process and timeline and then have to 
remember those who are unable to access services online, need to support businesses and 

Page 74

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


55

www.bridgend.gov.uk

town centres and third Sector have done a good job during the pandemic and should be 
supported. 

10. Youth Council meeting  

The Consultation and Engagement Team attended the Youth Council online meeting. 
Comments that were made during the meeting were noted and are detailed in the table below:

Theme No.
BCBC information is not always relevant to me, needs to be aimed more at 
young people in smaller chunks or videos and use social media platforms 15
Need to promote town centre/businesses/more shops but most people are 
shopping online now 14
Older people and digital poverty may mean people are not able to access 
services online, they need support to access these services and some 
prefer face to face interaction 12
Need to ensure vulnerable people are supported and can access services 
and ensure support continues after the pandemic 8
Need to support environmental projects such as renewable energy, eco 
infrastructure and electric car charging points 5
Commit to invest in our communities 1
Mental health support 1
Money spent on track and trace could be better spent on other things. 1

The most common themes were BCBC information is not always relevant to me, needs to 
be aimed more at young people in smaller chunks or videos and use social media 
platforms, followed by need to promote town centre/businesses/more shops but most 
people are shopping online now and then older people and digital poverty may mean 
people are not able to access services online, they need support to access these services 
and some prefer face to face interaction. 

11. Conclusion

11.1 Responding to the pandemic 

 Overall respondents stated that the council had performed well during the Covid-19 
pandemic;

 When asked what services they had missed during lockdown respondents stated that 
the services that they had missed the most were community recycling centres, 
followed by gyms and or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields;

 When asked which maintained services should be a priority for the future respondents 
stated general waste and recycling collection services followed by street lighting 
including responding to street lighting faults and then domestic abuse support

 The majority of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be 
adopted as an approach for the future;

Page 75

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


56

www.bridgend.gov.uk

11.2  Business and the economy
 

 Overall respondents stated that support for local businesses, the promotion of the town 
centres and supporting the visitor economy and the sustainability of culture and leisure 
venues was important or very important;

 Respondents also stated that labour market opportunities and business start-up 
opportunities were important or very important;

 When asked if respondents had any other ideas about how the council should support 
local businesses respondents stated reduce business rates and rents followed by 
need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, encourage more 
shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour and then better and free 
car parking.

11.3 Health and wellbeing   

 When asked which support services to help our most vulnerable residents the council 
should focus on as we recover from the pandemic overall respondents stated that 
support for older people, ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown 
restrictions ease, food poverty, council tax support for residents who had difficulty 
paying their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic and support from community 
organisations were important or very important; 

 The majority of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third 
sector.

11.4 Customer access to Civic Offices 

 The majority of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices 
while it has been closed and when asked how they have accessed services while Civic 
Offices has been closed respondents stated the website, followed by telephone and 
then email;

 The majority of respondents did not think it should be a priority to reopen Civic Offices 
however they went on to say that when Civic Offices do reopen the council should 
move to an appointment based system.

11.5 Digitalisation

 The majority of respondents stated that when Civic Offices reopen they will continue 
to access services online, a further 20% of respondents stated that they always 
preferred to access services online;

 When asked what would help you or someone you know access services online the 
majority stated that they did not need any help accessing services online, this was 
followed by they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful and then they would like 
to have videos on the Bridgend council website;

Page 76

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


57

www.bridgend.gov.uk

 The majority of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery, when 
asked why not the most common responses were was not aware of this service, 
followed by not needed/required/interested and then can find information 
independently through the internet, newspapers, social media, contacting the council 
etc.

  
11.6 Council tax levels 

 When asked to select which statement best represents your views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax a 
bit to help protect the most important services where possible (4.5% increase), 
followed by 36% of respondents who stated to keep council tax levels the same level, 
which would result in a reduction in the level of services provided, followed by 19% of 
respondents who were prepared to increase council tax more significantly to protect 
more services (6% increase) and then 8% of respondents who were prepared to pay 
as much as is needed to maintain all council services at existing levels (16% increase).

11.7 The future   

 When asked what do you think our long term priorities for the future should be 
respondents selected making in house efficiencies, followed by focussing on services 
that benefit everyone in the borough and then encouraging citizens to take more 
responsibility;

 When asked which three services the council should prioritise when recovering from 
the pandemic respondents most commonly chose care for older people, followed by 
schools and then recycling and waste; 

 When asked what lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic should be considered when 
setting medium and long term funding priorities, respondents most commonly stated 
that the council should have an emergency fund, not waste money and make internal 
savings i.e. streamline services, review staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts.  This was followed by the need to have a caring society, support 
social services and vulnerable people including children, older people, disabled 
people, care homes, carers and homelessness and then for the council to plan and 
prepare for the future and be adaptable;

 When asked if respondents had any further comments to make Bridgend County 
Borough fit for the future respondents most commonly stated that the council should 
make internal savings i.e. review number of staff and councillors, pay, expenses and 
review funded external partners followed by evaluate spending, provide value for 
money and provide more clarity on where money is spent and then need to be more 
prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans and decisions for the future.

11.8  Summary 

Due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic the response to the consultation demonstrated 
a significant decrease on previous years, with engagement being focussed online rather than 
face to face interactions and events within the community.  

Page 77

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


58

www.bridgend.gov.uk

A total of 1421 survey responses were received, this demonstrates a decrease of 58% on 
last year’s survey completions. 

The consultation received a total of 1,831 interactions from a combination of survey 
completions, engagement at various meetings, social media engagement and via the 
authority’s Citizens’ Panel. This represents a decrease of 75% on last year’s overall 
interactions. 

Using statistical analysis, based on a confidence level of 95% a sample of 1,421 survey 
completions is considered to be robust to a maximum standard error of +2.59%.  Therefore, 
we can be 95% confident that the responses are representative of those that would be 
given by the total adult population, to within ±2.59% of the percentages reported. 

This means that if the total adult population of Bridgend had taken part in the survey and a 
statistic of 50% was observed, we can be 95% confident that the actual figure lies between 
47.41% and 52.59%.

The consultation document was available in a variety of formats: standard; easy-read; large 
print and youth in Welsh and English. Respondents were able to select online or paper 
surveys in all formats. 

The consultation and engagement team attended 15 online meetings during the live period 
resulting in 203 face to face interactions with people in online events. 

This year respondents were taken to the govDelivery landing page on the BCBC website 
after completion of the survey. During the live period 216 people signed up to receive 
govDelivery notifications. 

An Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out in order to assess the impact of these 
proposals.

This report is to be shared with Cabinet in order to inform the MTFS for 2021-22 onwards. 

Page 78

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM

15 FEBRUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES

BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION 
(DECEMBER 2020 – MARCH 2021) - ENGAGEMENT WITH TOWN AND COMMUNITY 
COUNCILS 

 
1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Town and Community Council Forum of 
the proposed Masterplan for the Bridgend Town Centre and also of the public 
consultation, with the aim to ensure effective engagement with Town and Community 
Councils, local residents and businesses; and to introduce a presentation from BDP 
Consultants on the current proposal. 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county 
borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions 
for all people in the county borough. 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – taking steps 
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council 
and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and 
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

3. Background

3.1     The Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan was commissioned in February 2020 with  
          the purpose of it being a key strategic document to create a coherent basis for 
          securing future funding, attracting investors and delivering a comprehensive range 
          of regeneration projects. 

3.2 BDP Consultants and the wider sub-consultant team consisting of Asbri Planning, 
Cooke and Arkwright and Phil Jones Associates were appointed by Bridgend 
County Borough Council (BCBC) to prepare a Regeneration Masterplan for and on 
behalf of BCBC for the Bridgend town centre.  Arrangements have been made for 
BDP Consultants to deliver a presentation to the Town and Community Council 

Page 79

Agenda Item 5



Forum at the meeting on 15th February 2021.

3.3 The Masterplan purpose is to ensure that Bridgend builds on its many strengths, so 
that alongside recent investment, there is a catalyst for future growth that 
incorporates town centre mixed use regeneration. It will be used as a dynamic long-
term planning document that will offer a theoretical layout to guide future 
regeneration and growth. It also provides analysis, recommendations, and 
proposals for the town centre. It complements the Local Development Plan and 
builds upon the Bridgend Town Centre Framework.

3.4 As part of the development of the Masterplan, BCBC have conducted an extensive 
stakeholder engagement process during the early stages of the project. The 
findings are represented / incorporated into the Masterplan. BCBC extended an 
invite to all external stakeholders including local organisations, landowners, the 
Bridgend Town Council, other governmental authorities and relevant working 
groups. BDP subsequently conducted a visioning workshop with a range of external 
stakeholders.

3.5 In December 2020 a draft Masterplan was finalised for public consultation.  The 
consultation started on 6th December 2020 and will finish on March 1st 2021. 

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1  The draft Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan that is currently out for public 
consultation outlines a vision for a liveable and vibrant place. The vision brings 
together enterprise, employment, education, in-town living, shopping, culture, 
tourism and well-being within a historic setting. 

4.2      The consultation gives an overview of the plan which identifies a series of ambitious 
and deliverable projects. To achieve the overall vision and regenerate Bridgend 
Town Centre over the next ten years, four broad themes have been identified:
 Growth
 Resilience
 Well-being
 Identity

  4.3    Bridgend town centre consists of a variety of uses, which has formed the basis of 
eight development zones, within which 23 relevant projects have been identified, 
plus a number of site wide projects.  

      The development zones include:
 The Railway Station Area
 Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle
 The Retail Core
 Café and Cultural Quarter
 The Northern Gateway
 Riverside
 Newcastle
 Sunnyside

4.4      Key projects in the Masterplan are:

 A new entrance to the railway station from Tremains Road and Llynfi Lane

Page 80



 Improvements to the Northern Gateway - to create a legible and attractive 
gateway to the town centre

 The relocation of Bridgend College to the town centre
 To create a culture hub as an indoor event space
 A new town square
 More in-town living
 Better access to the town centre
 Strengthen the retail core
 Improvements in and along the Ogmore River

4.5 The consultation survey aims to gain views from as many different people and 
businesses about what their preferred projects, options and priorities might be. 

4.6 The Town and Community Council Forum will be provided with the electronic link to 
the consultation and the explainer video. Paper copies are available where 
requested. 

4.7 The consultation is available in a variety of formats, including online and paper, 
standard, easy read, youth version and large print. All formats are available in 
Welsh and English. 

4.8 The Town and Community Council Forum are requested to receive the presentation 
by BDP Consultants.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment 

6.1 There are no equality issues arising from this report.  

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of the 
masterplan and this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a 
result of this report.

8. Financial implications
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  

9. Recommendations

9.1 That the Town and Community Council Forum receives and considers this report 
and gives consideration to engagement during the live consultation period;

9.2 That the Town and Community Council Forum notes the presentation by BDP 
Consultants.

 

Page 81



Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director – Communities  
Date: 26 January 2021

Contact officer:  Nicola Lewis
 
Email: nicola.lewis3@bridgend.gov.uk
Telephone: 01656 815045
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF314WB

Background papers: 

Executive Summary of the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan 

Page 82

mailto:nicola.lewis3@bridgend.gov.uk


Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
Execut ive  Summary 
October 2020

P
age 83



Picture Credits:

Bridgend County Borough Council

BDP

PJA

Whilst every effort has been made to contact copyright 
holders for their permission to reprint material, the publishers 
would be grateful to hear from any copyright holder who 
is not acknowledge here and will undertake to rectify any 
errors or omissions in future editions.

Document number: BTCM-BDP-XX-XX-RP-T-0005

P
age 84



This page is left blank intentionally.

P
age 85



Cabinet Member’s Foreword 

I am delighted to welcome you to the Bridgend Town Centre 

Masterplan.  

All across the UK, town centres are facing up to the 

considerable and complex challenges posed by the 

coronavirus pandemic, Brexit and ongoing changes in 

shopping patterns and how people now choose to use their 

local town centre areas.

This ambitious, exciting strategy seeks to ensure that 

Bridgend town centre is capable of meeting these 

challenges, and can develop and adapt to a rapidly changing 

environment as well as uncertain markets and emerging 

economic conditions. 

We want the masterplan to act as a catalyst for sustainable 

future growth while meeting the requirements and aspirations 

of the private, public and third sectors.

To support this, the plan offers a theoretical layout which 

helps guide development and regeneration, and uses a 

zoned approach to support applications for specific types 

of funding as well as the aims and objectives of the county 

borough’s new Local Development Plan. 

The masterplan encapsulates an informative and 

comprehensive strategy for increasing the number of people 

who shop, work, live, visit and enjoy the town centre, and 

seeks to improve retail opportunities, create new commercial 

office space, introduce new public realm works, and provide 

better transport facilities.

As a guiding document, it is designed to enable us to 

deliver our vision of a vibrant town centre community, one 

which reflects the goals and aspirations of the Well-Being 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act, and which harnesses 

the potential inherent within Bridgend for supporting an 

innovative, productive and sustainable community – one 

that ultimately contributes towards the long-term aims of a 

globally responsible and prosperous Wales.Councillor Charles Smith

Cabinet Member for Education and Regeneration

4

P
age 86



Foreword from the Association of 
Town and City Management

Town centres and high streets everywhere are probably 

facing their most difficult period since the Second World 

War. 

 

The digital revolution means we are seeing innovation and 

change happen at a level unprecedented in human history.  

And the impact on consumer behaviour and business 

practices is there for all to see, with the digital economy 

producing a conveyer belt of new business models

 

To add to this disruption is a pandemic which means, for 

now, the traditional ways of trading face-to-face are not 

always possible meaning uncertainty in many sectors.

 

I recently participated in a global conference on high streets 

where the challenges for towns and cities across the world 

are same. It did not matter if it was a retailer in Sweden, a 

café in New Zealand, a restaurant in Canada, or a property 

owner in the US. The challenges were similar, and town 

centres are struggling to adapt.

 

But there is hope. Shared problems mean the potential for 

shared solutions. And the one solution which was universal 

to revitalising town centres was collaboration. Across the 

world there is the growing recognition for businesses, 

landlords, local government, educationalists and the civic 

community to come together. The willingness to engage in 

open dialogue and map a route forward together is often 

rewarded with the building blocks of a better future for the 

town centre. And this must be a starting point for Bridgend.

It is, like so many other town centres, the heart of the 

community and the foundation of the economy. The health of 

Bridgend town centre has implications for the wider region. 

Its worth the effort, especially as we all adapt to cope with a 

rapidly changing world. 

 

I encourage you all to work together, engage with this 

masterplan and begin a dialogue with colleagues across 

the town. It’s been sometime since my last trip to the town 

but, pandemic permitting, I hope to return soon to be part 

of the debate of creating a better tomorrow for the town of 

Bridgend.  

Ojay McDonald

Chief Executive Officer

Association of Town & City Management

5

P
age 87



Newbridge 
Fields

A473

A473

A40
61

to  M4 motorway

Swansea to Paddington 
railway line

Plan showing the town centre study area boundary and major transport 
infrastructure around Bridgend town centre.

Introduction
Bridgend (Pen-y-bont) is a historic town in South Wales, 

located equidistant between Cardiff and Swansea, Wales’ 

two biggest cities. Bridgend, situated on the Ogmore River, 

is approximately 5 kilometres upstream from the Bristol 

Channel and gets its name from the bridge built at a fording 

point of the river. The town itself benefits from excellent 

access by a variety of forms of transport. The M4 motorway 

runs close to Bridgend town with the A473 and A4061 

connecting the former to the town centre. The railway and 

bus stations are both within the town centre. The Office for 

National Statistics (ONS) estimates a population of 143,400 

in 2015 for Bridgend County Borough. Bridgend town centre 

accounts for approximately 33% of the County Borough’s 

population (around 47,000 people). 

The regeneration masterplan for Bridgend town centre 

outlines a vision for a liveable and vibrant community. It 

identifies a series of ambitious and deliverable projects for 

the next 10 years that will support future economic growth, 

and secure more benefits and opportunities for the County 

Borough. The projects are complemented by a robust 

action plan and delivery mechanism which provide strategic 

direction to town centre development. 

The masterplan will be used as a dynamic long-term 

planning document that will offer a theoretical layout to 

guide future regeneration and growth. It will provide analysis, 

recommendations, and proposals for the town centre. It 

will complement the BCBC Local Development Plan. It 

is a priority that the masterplan will be adopted as future 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG).  

Town Centre Study 
Area Boundary

Conservation Areas

Green Spaces

Main Roads 1

1

2

2

3

3

Bridgend Town Centre 
Conservation Area

Merthyr Mawr Road 
Conservation Area       

Newcastle Hill Conservation 
Area

A4063

Bridgend Town Centre Study Area
The town centre study area, which comprises the town centre, 

is less than 1 sqkm in area and contains three conservation 

areas. Large open spaces, including Newbridge Fields are 

located on the periphery of the town centre. The railway 

station and its adjacent area to the east is seen as a strategic 

site for development. The ‘A’ roads and the Ogmore River 

separate the town centre from its surroundings to the north 

and the west.

Bridgend railway station, a key transport hub and gateway to the town 
centre

O
gm

ore
 R

iv
er

6

P
age 88



Developing a Collaborative 
Masterplan with Stakeholders
As part of the development of the regeneration masterplan 

for Bridgend town centre, BCBC conducted an extensive 

stakeholder engagement process during the early stages 

of the project and the findings are represented within 

the masterplan. BCBC extended an invite to all external 

stakeholders, including local organisations, landowners, the 

Town Council, other governmental authorities and relevant 

working groups. 

Several key themes emerged from the stakeholder 

engagement and these are summarised below:

Placemaking & Identity 

The town should not try to compete with the neighbouring 

retail offer of Cardiff or Swansea and instead offer something 

different, building on the cultural offer of Bridgend and 

developing related leisure activities. Properties flanking the 

river should be redeveloped so that they open on to the river 

as well as the streetscape within the town centre.

Heritage & Conservation

Heritage is important to local people and could become the 

town centre’s unique selling point (USP). A focus on heritage 

would increase town centre footfall through tourism. This 

would strengthen Bridgend’s sense of identity and fit in with 

a desire to build on a cultural offering.

Regeneration & Development

Several sites around the town centre were identified 

as being in need of redevelopment. Some of these 

include:-

•	 Railway station and the surrounding area

•	 Wyndham Street 

•	 Cheapside (including the police station site and potential 

relocation of Bridgend College)  

•	 Brackla House

•	 Former Lorne Stewart site

•	 YMCA, Bridgend Driving Test Centre and Jobcentre Plus

•	 Wyndham House (key central location at heart of the 

town)

•	 Former post office site on Derwen Road  

•	 Llynfi Lane area to the north of the railway station

Shrinking Town Centre Retail

The problems facing the retail sector in Bridgend attracted 

many comments. The town centre is perceived as too big 

and lacking a focal point. There are a large number of empty 

retail units and some of the Rhiw Shopping centre units 

have been vacant for 18-20 years. To counter the falling 

demand retail units should be converted to residential use 

or alternative leisure use.

Increased Residential Living

People moving into the town centre needs to be central 

to the masterplan, enabling a more mixed economy Dunraven Place and the War Memorial, a listed structure, within the 
Bridgend Town Centre Conservation Area.

Image showing stakeholder feedback from the Visioning Workshop for 
Bridgend town centre masterplan, conducted on 11th March 2020 in 
the Civic Offices, Bridgend.

7

P
age 89



comprising retail and leisure. Living opportunities in the town 

centre should be increased to improve vibrancy. The Rhiw 

development is seen as a positive example of affordable 

housing in the town centre. 

improved especially between the two public transport 

nodes of the bus and railway station and better pedestrian 

links generally from the railway station.

Transport & Infrastructure

Access to the railway station from both sides of the track 

can be improved by prioritising non-car modes and 

implementing active travel routes, linking the surrounding 

residential areas to the town centre and its transport hubs. 

Suggested improvements are as follows:

•	 Allow the station to be accessed from both sides of the 	

	 track.

•	 Create multi-modal transport hubs and ensure 

accessible links between the railway station, bus station 

and Cheapside.

•	 Link the town centre to the Bridgend Industrial Estate.

•	 Ensure that the station offers high-quality facilities to 

encourage access by active and sustainable travel 

including appropriate cycle storage facilities.

•	 Some pedestrianisation within the town centre is not 

seen as successful, such as Market Street, Dunraven 

Place and Queen Street. Potential solutions for vehicular 

access to those streets should be considered.

Flood Risk

The latest TAN 15 guidance on Development and Flood Risk  

is under review and should inform the masterplan when 

adopted. Potential development in Flood Zone C2 should 

proceed with caution and flood risk mitigation measures  for 

the development should be reviewed.

Bridgend bus station is a key transport hub and gateway to the town 
centre. Anti-social behaviour has been reported in its vicinity.

The Rhiw housing development on Rhiw Hill.

Safety 

Although serious crime is low, the town centre struggles 

with a perception of safety in terms of anti-social behaviour 

(ASB). Improving the perception of safety and mitigating any 

anti-social behaviour is necessary. Options for improvement 

that should be considered include:

•	 Improvements to multi-storey car parks.

•	 Night time crime, in terms of anti-social behaviour, is 

particularly an issue around the bus station.

•	 It is highly recommended to include the Designing 

out Crime officer early on in the design and planning 

process and ensure ‘Secure by Design’ measures are 

incorporated within town centre developments. 

•	 Flexible vehicular access within some streets of the town 

centre could help reduce ASB. Natural surveillance could 

be improved on some town centre streets.

•	 Elder Lane has had positive improvements in terms of 

safety on the street and the immediate area.

•	 Secure cycle storage is necessary in the town centre.

Increased Open Space & Public Realm

The perceived lack of a focal centre for activities is 

evident in the town centre. This is linked to the opinions 

that Bridgend lacks any large outdoor event space or 

congregation area in the town centre. The town centre needs 

green pockets / open spaces and trees which incorporate 

seating to sit and enjoy the surroundings. The railway station 

is seen as an unwelcome entrance to the town with buildings 

that ‘turn their back’ on the station. Further improvements 

could be made to enhance and promote walks along the 

river. 

Access, Permeability & Legibility

There were several comments that more could be done 

to improve the entrances to the town with permeable, 

legible and welcoming gateways. Legibility could be 

8

P
age 90



•	 The town centre primarily has low-rise buildings of 2-3 

storeys, providing an opportunity to create a landmark 

building. The Civic Offices, Rhiw housing development 

and Brackla House extend up-to 4-6 storeys forming a 

key part of the town centre skyline. 

Town Centre Study -  Key Findings 
and Considerations
A number of key findings from the town centre study 

conducted by BDP and the wider consultant team during 

March 2020 found that: 

•	 The elegant 2-3 storey, Georgian and the mid-Victorian 

buildings contribute to the positive architectural 

character of the town centre, but infill redevelopment, 

particularly on Market Street, Wyndham Street, Queen 

Street, Caroline Street and Derwen Road, detracts from 

the historic character of the area.

•	 The town centre comprises in-town living opportunities, 

such as the Rhiw housing development; key employment 

space at Tremains Business Park; amenities and 

community facilities; and the dominance of retail 

including two shopping centres: Rhiw Shopping Centre 

and Bridgend Shopping Centre. 

•	 The town centre also has a significant number of vacant 

properties in poor condition on Wyndham Street, Market 

Street and within the shopping centres. 

•	 The town centre has a range of quality office space 

provision, but availability is limited. Headline rents - 

£9.50-£12.50 are lower than out of town office space, 

which have a good supply of modern SME space. 

Existing office occupiers focused on car use with current 

road infrastructure and parking more relevant to public 

transport. Rents can be as high as £5- £6 per sq. ft. for 

smaller industrial stock which is market leading.

•	 There is a lack of open space in the town centre, with 

large open spaces such as Newbridge Fields outside the 

core, to the south-west of the town centre.

•	 Strategic highway routes, such as the A4061 and the 

A473 connect Bridgend to the M4 corridor. 

•	 The railway station is the fifth busiest station in Wales 

and is on a line that serves Cardiff, Swansea and London. 

•	 The town centre has a bus station, and Derwen Road/

Nolton Street function as the key bus route within the 

town centre. 

•	 Off street car parks are generally quite small and are 

dispersed around the town centre and may be difficult 

to find for unfamiliar visitors. Many of the car parks have 

open frontages and interrupt the historic grain of the 

town centre. 

•	 The town centre streets are pedestrianised between 

10am-6pm and can be only used for loading and 

servicing outside of these times.

Pedestrianised Market Street which can be only used for loading and 
servicing from 6pm to 10am.

•	 The core of the town retail area has been pedestrianised, 

however there is lack of tree planting or other urban 

greening measures. In addition to the presence of street 

lighting, amenity lighting highlighting historic features in 

the area would be beneficial. 

•	 Investment in public art is also noted at Cheapside Plaza 

along with other public realm improvements in the town 

centre. 

•	 The Ogmore River is a key element of the town centre 

and riverside improvements have been undertaken in the 

recent years through the implementation of the Angel 

Walkway. 

Jobcentre Plus building and Civic Offices are one of the tall buildings 
along the Ogmore River in the town centre.

9

P
age 91



Recommendations for Vehicular 
Access in the Town Centre
Discussions with BCBC and stakeholder feedback have 

indicated that there is a strong desire to consider partial 

de-pedestrianisation of the town centre. The stakeholder 

consultation indicated that the pedestrianisation of Adare 

Street and Caroline Street was seen as a positive. However, 

de-pedestrianisation of Market Street, Dunraven Place 

and Queen Street would be preferable. Previous studies 

have been undertaken by Capita and WSP to assess the 

introduction of vehicular traffic to these streets.

The town centre streets considered for partial de-

pedestrianisation have a defined 20mm kerb upstand, 

tactile paving at crossing points, and a vehicular path which 

is clearly delineated by a change of material. In addition, 

they also currently carry loading traffic from 6pm - 10am. 

Allowing general traffic to use these streets in Bridgend does 

not run counter to the Department for Transport’s ‘pause’ 

on level surface schemes. However, it is recommended 

that detailed consultation with local disability groups, 

businesses, residents and Designing out Crime Officer is 

undertaken to understand any implications of the change 

in traffic arrangements on the usability of the street. It is 

imperative that any changes should meet the requirements 

of all users, so that an inclusive and accessible environment 

can be created. 

Furthermore, the Covid-19 pandemic has once again 

shifted the focus back onto town centres. Although there 

is uncertainty over the lasting impact of Covid-19 on town 

centres, the shift to online retailing has forced retailers to 

embrace change. This in turn means that town centres 

need to facilitate click & collect provision as well as allowing 

retailers, both multiples and independents, to offer delivery 

options as part of a multi-channel retail offer. The conflicting 

pressure of maintaining vehicle access, whilst at the same 

time allowing more space for social distancing will require 

balanced and pragmatic management.

•	 There are cycle routes and controlled crossing locations 

within the town centre, and is connected by national 

cycle route 885. 

•	 Existing flood defences within the town centre have been 

proven to provide protection against a 1 in 100 year flood 

event, including an allowance for climate change, and  

development in the town centre will comply with TAN 15 

requirement A1.14 – frequency threshold of flooding.

In the previous years, several grants have been facilitated 

by BCBC for the town centre improvement, which include: 

•	 Town Improvement Grant (TIG) to improve and conserve 

town centre buildings.

•	 Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) programme, including 

grant funding for Rhiw Housing development.

•	 Townscape Hertiage Initiative (THI) Programme, as part 

of the VVP programme, for sensitive repair restoration 

and reuse of historic buildings. 

•	 Convergence Programme projects delivering 1.87 ha of 

public realm improvement works in the town centre.

•	 Targeted Regeneration Investment (TRI) programme to 

fund projects which boost economic regeneration and 

community well-being.

Flexible Vehicular Access to pedestrianised Dunraven Place would need 
to be thoroughly assessed and suitable changes could be implemented.

Building Character Improvements to 3-11 Elder Street as part of the 
THI Programme.

10

P
age 92



Vision, 
Masterplan and 

Proposals  

P
age 93



Vision and Themes

The vision for the Bridgend 
Town Centre is to establish 
itself as a ‘County Town’ 
where it connects people 
with opportunities by 
contributing to the regional 
economy, and acting as a 
key hub in the Cardiff Capital 
Region and South Wales.

The vision further establishes 
Bridgend town centre 
as a liveable and vibrant 
place that binds together 
enterprise, employment, 
education, in-town living, 
culture, tourism and well-
being with commerce within 
a historic setting.

To achieve the overall vision and to steer the regeneration of 

Bridgend town centre through high quality placemaking over the 

next ten years, four broad themes have been identified. They 

are:

1.	 Growth

2.	 Resilience

3.	 Well-being

4.	 Identity

1.	 Growth

Consolidation of retail, housing intensification and diversification 

of town centre uses through the introduction of focused 

employment and education uses to achieve diverse, well curated 

and managed town centre growth.

2.	 Resilience

Future-proofing solutions for the town centre by creating a 

sustainable community and mixed economy through energy 

conservation, a mix of land uses and demographics, as well as 

sustainable travel solutions.

3.	 Well-being

Enhancing health and well-being through good quality public 

spaces and natural landscape to create a more attractive 

town centre, new  open spaces with leisure and recreation 

opportunities, and richer biodiversity.

4.	 Identity

Building on from the achievements of the Townscape Heritage 

Initiative to best utilise heritage assets and the positive 

characteristics of the town to establish a ‘County Town’ with a 

strong sense of place, cultural identity and attractive appearance. 

Diagram showing key themes to help achieve the vision and guide 
the regeneration of the town centre.

Fo
st

er
in
g 
gr
ow

th th
roug

h invest
ment in enterprise, learning and living

Cr
ea

ti
ng

 re
si
lie

nc
e t

hr
oug

h in
tegrate

d mobility, infrastructure & circular econom
y

Lo
ca

l 
an

d 
re

gi
on

al
 we

ll-b
eing through social cohesion and li nkages

Re-establishing an iden
tit

y

1

2

3

4

12

P
age 94



Urban living & 
intergenerational 

communities

Enterprise 
Space

Learning Hub Energy and 
Renewables

Mixed economy Integrated and 
sustainable 

mobility

Green Blue 
Infrastructure

Open Space 
and Community 

hotspots

Heritage based 
placemaking

Events and 
Culture

growth resilience well-being identity

1.	 Urban Living and Intergenerational 
Communities: Creating in-town living that caters 

to different age and income groups and increases 

social housing through the redevelopment of 

strategic vacant sites and repurposing of vacant 

buildings.

2.	 Enterprise Space: Creating a satellite hub 

for businesses with room for office spaces, co-

working hubs and light industrial units  connecting 

South Wales and the Cardiff Capital Region 

through robust transport links.

3.	 Learning Hub: Utilising education as a catalyst 

for town centre regeneration to spur on the 

development of a mixed economy that caters for 

all demographics. 

4.	 Energy and Renewables: To progress 

towards a low carbon economy through low 

energy buildings, combined energy networks, 

sustainable waste strategies and the strategic 

use of available land.

5.	 Mixed Economy: Fostering a mixed 

economy to ensure a thriving town centre in 

the ever-changing economic climate through 

a combination of business, education, retail, 

leisure and cultural uses.

6.	 Integrated and Sustainable Mobility: 
A robust transport strategy that creates a 

cohesive, accessible and legible network of 

pedestrian, cycle, public and private transport 

routes.

7.	 Green Blue Infrastructure: 
Creating a robust network of 

streets and spaces that are clearly 

defined, accessible to all, safe and 

resilient, incorporating greening 

measures and sustainable 

drainage.

8.	 Open Space and Community 
Hotspots: Encouraging positive 

social interaction through the 

creation of open spaces and 

areas of activity that demonstrate 

transformative placemaking to 

enable inclusive communities in 

Bridgend.

9.	 H e r i t a g e - b a s e d 
Placemaking: Highlighting 

and reinforcing the existing 

heritage of Bridgend and 

utilising it to create a legible 

town centre with a strong 

sense of place.

10.	 Events and Culture: 
Diversification of the town 

centre offer to provide  a  

wider cultural, social and civic 

experience that brings added 

vitality and vibrancy. 

growth resilience well-being identity

Masterplan Objectives
These key themes are further linked to the ten masterplan objectives which are as stated below:

13

P
age 95



Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan 2021 - 2030
The following diagram showcases the strategic masterplan for Bridgend town centre that identifies a set of regeneration 

projects and site-wide development schemes.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

11

12 9
10

13
14

17

1918

16

15

21

20

23

22

S

A473

N
olton S

t

Caroline St

Glan-Y-Parc

Park St

A
d

are S
t

Bra
ck

la
 S

t

D
unraven Place

Trem
ains Rd

A4061

Proposed Public Open Space

Proposed Vehicular Routes with 
Improved Pedestrian Environment

Improved Green Infrastructure

Proposed Heritage Trail

Proposed Residential

Proposed Community & Leisure Use

Proposed Mixed Use

Existing Leisure Use

Proposed Employment/ Business Use

Proposed Educational and Civic Use

Proposed Hotel

Key Existing Buildings

Existing Vehicular Roads

Pedestrianised Routes

Proposed Demolition 

Proposed Lower Carbon District Heat 
Network - Phase 1

Proposed Lower Carbon District Heat 
Network - Phase 2

14

P
age 96



Rhiw Shopping Centre

Police Centre

New Railway Station Entrance and Llynfi 

Lane

Tremains Business Park

Station Court

Station Link

Station Hill and Court Road Development

Derwen Road Residential

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

11

12

9

10

13

14

17

19

18

16

15

21

20

23

22

S

The Nolton

Cheapside - Bridgend College Relocation

Cheapside East

Brackla Street

Nolton Club

A

B

C

D

F

G

HRailway Station Area

Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle

Retail Core

Cafe and Cultural Quarter

Riverside

Newcastle

Sunnyside

Site-wide Schemes

Reconfiguration of Weir 1 in Ogmore River

Wyndham Street

Dunraven Arms Apartments 

Gateway Hotel

Cultural Hub

Cambrian House Site

Town Square

E Northern Gateway

Riverside Terraces

Angel Housing

Park Place

Sunnyside Wellness Village (planning 

permission received)

Minor Housing Conversions in vacant 

properties (multiple) 

Flexible Vehicular Access to Queen Street, 

Market Street and Dunraven Place

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 

including active travel links 

Heritage Trail with integrated Wayfinding 

and Signage Strategy

Building Character and Street Art 

Improvement (multiple)

Lower Carbon District Heat Network

15

P
age 97



A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Proposed Development Zones
The town centre consists of variations in urban form and 

use, which has formed the basis for the categorisation of 

eight development zones, within which relevant regeneration 

projects have been identified. This approach facilitates 

the development of various parts of the town centre 

simultaneously over the next 10 years.

A473

A40
61

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Railway Station Area

Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle

Retail Core

Cafe and Cultural Quarter

Northern Gateway

Riverside

Newcastle

Sunnyside

16

P
age 98



Transit-Oriented Development
The Railway Station Area is one of the key transport 

gateways, and helps to connect Bridgend county and town 

with South Wales and further afield to England. This area 

has been identified as a development zone to maximise the 

development potential around the railway station through 

improving existing properties and developing underutilised 

sites. 

Location: Bridgend railway station, Station Hill, southern 

part of Derwen Road, Court Road, Tremains Road, Ogmore 

Terrace and Llynfi Lane.

The proposed regeneration projects are:

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

1

2

3

4

5

6

New Railway Station Entrance and Llynfi Lane: 

Multi-modal transport hub accessed from Tremains 

Road, including new railway station entrance, bus 

services between the railway station, bus station, 

Cheapside and town centre, station car park, taxi rank, 

and potential mixed use development; delivered in the 

short to medium term (1-6 years).

Tremains Business Park: Redevelopment and 

extension of employment space to include offices, 

light industrial uses, workshops and co-working space; 

delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Station Court: Redevelopment of the station entrance 

with active uses, employment and improved landscape 

along the railway line to the west; delivered in the 

medium term (4-6 years).

Station Link: Active travel connection to the town 

centre with a vibrant open space and active frontage 

along Brackla Street; delivered in the short term (1-3 

years).

Station Hill & Court Road Development: 

Redevelopment of vacant buildings to office use/co-

working space, mixed use development; delivered in 

the short term (1-3 years).

Derwen Road Residential: Medium density residential 

development with active non-residential use at street 

level; delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 		

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Maximum Development Proposal for the Rai lway 
Stat ion Area:

•	 160 Resident ia l  units ( including social  and 
af fordable housing)

•	 5,600 sqm Of f ice use ( including refurbishment 
of approximately 2 ,500 sqm exist ing space)

•	 1,810 sqm Retai l ,  Food & Drink and anci l lar y 
faci l i t ies

•	 1,900 sqm Community and Leisure Use

•	 7,245 sqm Publ ic Open Space

•	 New rai lway stat ion entrance accessed  
f rom Tremains Road, up to 200 car parking 
spaces, dedicated act ive t ravel routes, cycle 
hubs, taxi  rank and shut t le bus services

Court Road properties largely house employment spaces. Vacant 
properties, such as Old Post Office building, could be potentially 
repurposed as employment space.

Bridgend railway station is one of the key transport gateways to the 
town centre. The station building and surroundings would be improved 
to make the area legible, accessible, attractive and vibrant.

A 
Railway 
Station 

Area

17

P
age 99



Aspirational street scene showing a new vibrant entrance to Bridgend railway station from Tremains Road, which includes cycle hub, 
car drop-off zones, taxi rank, shuttle bus services, station retail facilities and new entrance to Tremains Business Park.

18

P
age 100



Aspirational street scene showing potential active and pedestrian friendly town centre entrance of 
Bridgend railway station from Station Hill/ Court Road.

19

P
age 101



Living and Learning Hub
Brackla, Nolton and Oldcastle are located to the south 

of Bridgend town centre, and have been identified as a 

development zone due to their potential to be developed as 

an activity hub close to the railway station and primary retail 

area.

Location: Brackla Street, Nolton Street, Merthyr Mawr 

Road, Cheapside and Edward Street.

7

8

11

9

10

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Brackla,  Nolton and Oldcast le:

•	 240 Resident ial  units ( including social 
and af fordable housing)

•	 1,200 sqm Of f ice use

•	 10,000 sqm+ Educat ional use

•	 Reprovis ion of 9,990 sqm exist ing Retai l 
and Food & Drink space

•	 2 ,160 sqm Community and Leisure Use

•	 3,640 sqm improved Publ ic Open Space

•	 Redevelopment of exist ing mult i-storey 
car park (235 spaces) and long-stay car 
park as deck car park (115 spaces)

•	 Cycle hub at Cheapside

The Nolton: Medium density residential development 

with street level retail and community facilities; delivered 

in the medium term (4-6 years).

Cheapside: Bridgend College relocation, and 

Cheapside developed as a pedestrian and cycle priority 

area with vehicular access and enhancement of bus 

service provision; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Cheapside East: Medium-high density mixed use and 

residential development with redevelopment of existing 

multi-storey car park on Cheapside; delivered in the 

long term (7-10 years).

Brackla Street: Active street frontage with potential 

co-working space and reprovision of existing parking 

spaces with deck car park to the rear; delivered in the 

medium to term (4-10 years).

The proposed regeneration projects are:

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Minor Housing conversions in vacant buildings; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Cheapside has received public ream improvement in the past decade. 
Underutilised sites on Cheapside, such as the Police Station, have 
tremendous potential for development.

Bridgend Shopping Centre on Brackla Street is one of the key sites in 
the town centre and has tremendous potential for development.

B 
Brackla, 
Nolton & 
Oldcastle

Nolton Club: Community centre with ancillary facilities 

for all age groups to provide an active space for meet 

and greet; delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

20

P
age 102



12

13

Rhiw Shopping Centre: Redevelopment of the Rhiw 

Shopping Centre as a mixed use block containing retail 

as a core function and housing development on the 

upper floor; delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Police Centre: Relocation of Police Station as a town 

centre shopfront in the heart of Bridgend town; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Consolidated High Street
The Retail Core is a development zone within the town 

centre identified to facilitate the consolidation of the primary 

retail area. 

Location: Adare Street, Caroline Street, Queen Street, Rhiw 

Hill, Rhiw Shopping Centre and northern part of Nolton 

Street.

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Retai l  Core:

•	 50 Resident ial  units

•	 Reconf igurat ion and refurbishment of 
9,272 sqm exist ing Retai l ,  Food & Drink  
and Recreat ional space

•	 500 sqm for Pol ice Centre

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Flexible Vehicular Access to Queen Street; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Redevelopment of the Rhiw Shopping Centre will aid the consolidation 
of the retail stock in the town centre.

Caroline Street and Queen Street, along with Adare Street, will serve as 
primary shopping area within the town centre.

C 
Retail 
Core

21

P
age 103



Hear t of Bridgend
The Café and Cultural Quarter area has been identified as 

a development zone to strengthen the heart of the town 

centre. 

Location: Dunraven Place, western part of Wyndham Street, 

Elder Street and surroundings.

14

16

15

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Cultural Hub: Development of a Cultural Hub to 

provide an indoor event space in Bridgend town centre; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Cambrian House Site: Medium density residential 

block with active frontage at street level; delivered in 

the medium term (4-6 years).

Town Square: Creating a new square in the heart of 

the Bridgend town centre that would act as a multi-

functional open space, with moveable street furniture, 

for  gatherings, events and food markets; delivered in 

the short to medium term (1-6 years).

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Café and Cultural  Quar ter:

•	 20 Resident ial  units

•	 424 sqm Retai l  and Food & Drink

•	 2 ,500 sqm Community and Leisure use

•	 1,865 sqm Publ ic Open Space

•	 10 addit ional shor t-stay car parking 
spaces

Flexible Vehicular Access to Dunraven Place 		

and Market Street; potential quick win, delivered in 

the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Capitalising and boosting the food and drink offer in the town centre 
would contribute to the day and night time economy.

Improving the heart of the town centre around Dunraven Place, 
through increasing public open space within the historic setting, would 
make the town centre vibrant and liveable. An illustration showing the 
aspirational development is shown on pg.23.

D 
Cafe & 

Cultural 
Quar ter

22

P
age 104



Aspirational street scene showing the heart of the town centre with potential Town Square at Dunraven Place.

23

P
age 105



Creat ing a Gateway to 
Bridgend Town Centre
The Northern Gateway is a key priority area and has been 

identified as a development zone to create a legible and 

attractive gateway from the A4061 and A4063 to the town 

centre. 

Location: Bridgend bus station, Quarella Road, Private car 

park, northern end of Dunraven Place, Market Street and 

eastern part of Wyndham Street.

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Nor thern Gateway:

•	 45 Resident ial  units

•	 Reconf igurat ion and refurbishment of 
2 ,050 sqm exist ing Retai l ,  Professional 
Services and Food & Drink space

•	 A budget Hotel

•	 755 sqm improved Publ ic Open Space

•	 8 addit ional shor t-stay car parking 
spaces

•	 Cycle hub close to Bridgend bus stat ion

17

19

18

20

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Reconfiguration of Weir 1 in Ogmore River: Flood 

risk reduction scheme; potential quick win, delivered in 

the short term (1-3 years).

Wyndham Street: Redevelopment of the urban block 

on the eastern part of Wyndham Street and Market 

Street through collaborative retail and in-town living; 

delivered in the short to medium term (1-6 years).

Dunraven Arms Apartments: Repurposing Dunraven 

Arms Hotel into apartments; delivered in the medium 

term (4-6 years).

Gateway Hotel: Budget hotel at the northern entrance 

to the town centre from the A4061 on to Derwen Road; 

delivered in the long term (7-10 years).

Flexible Vehicular Access to Market Street; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Lower Carbon District Heat Network - Phase 2; 

delivered in the long term (7-10 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

The northern entrance of the town centre as seen from the A4061 is  
unattractive and has limitations in terms of accessibility for pedestrians 
and cyclists, thus providing a crucial opportunity for development.

The building stock and townscape on the eastern part of Wyndham 
Street, as seen from Derwen Road, would be enhanced to create a 
legible and vibrant entrance to the town centre. An illustration showing 
the aspirational development is shown on pg.25.

E 
Nor thern 
Gateway

24

P
age 106



Aspirational street scene showing the transformed Northern Gateway of Bridgend town centre, as seen from the A4061 and Derwen road 
junction, where the Dunraven Arms Hotel building acts as a focal point, building stock on Wyndham Street and Market Street is improved, 
and public realm is enhanced.

25

P
age 107



Optimising the River front
The Riverside is one of the overlooked areas within the 

town centre development and has been identified as a 

development zone to improve the town centre skyline and 

townscape character along the riverfront.

Location: the Ogmore River and the rear of properties 

on Dunraven Place and Queen Street, Old Bridge, Angel 

Walkway, Civic Offices and Angel Street.

21

22

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Riverside Terraces: High quality residential terraces 

with active frontage at street level; delivered in the 

medium to long term (4-10 years).

Angel Housing: High-density riverfront housing; 

delivered in the medium to long term (4-10 years).

Substantial private sector investment and initiative are 

required for the projects to be realised. 

Maximum Development Proposal for the 
Riverside:

•	 140 Resident ial  units

•	 710 sqm Community and Leisure Use

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Angel Walkway and the modernist buildings along the Ogmore River 
as seen from Water Street. Potential public realm improvements on the 
western bank would improve the frontage along the river.

Potential opportunity to repurpose the historic riverfront properties to 
create more interaction with the Ogmore River. The Old Bridge, one of 
the oldest remaining historic structures and the most instagrammed 
spots of Bridgend town, contributes to the attractive setting.

F 
Riverside

26

P
age 108



Maximum Development Proposal for 
Newcast le:

•	 Social  Housing

•	 218 sqm improved Publ ic Open Space

Town Centre Extension
Newcastle is one the key historic areas of Bridgend 

town centre, dating back to the 12th Century when the 

Norman Castle was built. The area has been identified as 

a development zone to strengthen its accessibility to the 

town centre and further support the regeneration of the 

town centre through improvements to existing buildings and 

historic structures. 

Location: Newcastle Hill, eastern part of Park Street and 

surroundings.

23

The proposed regeneration projects are:

Park Place: Public Realm improvements to existing 

public space at the bottom of Newcastle Hill; potential 

quick win, delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

Ancient Newcastle Castle ruins and its surrounding grounds are one of 
key historic attractions in the town. Accessibility to the landmark would 
be improved and form a part of the proposed heritage trail.

2-3 storey terraced houses, some of them being Victorian and 
Georgian terraces, render positive architectural character to the inner 
town suburb of Newcastle. Some of the vacant properties in the area 
could be repurposed as housing.

Minor Housing conversions in vacant buildings; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Heritage trail with integrated Wayfinding and 

Signage Strategy; delivered in the short to medium 

term (1-6 years).

Building Character and Street Art Improvement; 

delivered in the short term (1-3 years).

G 
Newcastle

  

27

P
age 109



Intergenerat ional Community 
and Well-being Campus
Sunnyside is one of the inner suburbs around the town 

centre and has been identified as a development zone to 

improve the accessibility of Newbridge Fields and planned 

Sunnyside Wellness Village to the town centre. 

Location: Newbridge Fields, Glan-Y-Parc and Sunnyside 

Road and surroundings.

Green-Blue Infrastructure Improvement, 				 

including active travel links; delivered in the short to 

medium term (1-6 years).

Wayfinding and Signage Strategy as part of the 

Heritage Trail; delivered in the short to medium term 

(1-6 years).

Lower Carbon District Heat Network - Phase 1; 

delivered in the medium term (4-6 years).

Sunnyside Wellness Village: A well-being campus 

which will provide 59 homes and healthcare centre on 

Glan-Y-Parc to the west of the town centre.

S

The proposed site-wide schemes within the development 

zone are:

The planned and approved scheme within the development 

zone is:

The multi-purpose hall in the leisure centre on Glan-Y-Parc could be 
potentially used as an indoor event space and is within 10 minutes walk 
from the town centre. 

Site of the future Sunnyside Wellness Village currently under 
development.

Similar to Newcastle, Sunnyside is an inner town suburb of Bridgend 
town centre comprising 2 storey terraced houses of positive 
architectural character on Sunnyside Road.

Maximum Development Proposal for 
Sunnyside:

•	 Planned Sunnyside Wel lness Vi l lage

•	 Mult i-purpose hal l  in the leisure centre 
could be ut i l ised as an indoor event 
space

H 
Sunnyside

28

P
age 110



Implementation and Delivery
The regeneration projects identified in the Bridgend Town 

Centre Masterplan will be implemented in various phases 

over the next 10 years. In order to take a planned to approach 

to delivery, an action plan has been developed to assist 

with formulating a project timeline, prioritising and planning 

projects and furthermore, identifying what resources or 

inputs are needed to do deliver individual projects. 

The successful delivery of the masterplan will be dependent 

on an active partnership approach between key stakeholders 

from the public, private and third sectors. A strategic 

approach to project delivery will be taken, with BCBC acting 

as a key facilitator to bring together key project enablers to 

deliver projects that form part of the overall vision for the 

regeneration of the Bridgend town centre. 

There will be a number of delivery mechanisms that will 

need to be considered, depending on the project. These 

may include:

•	 Collaborative partnerships between government 

agencies (e.g. Transport for Wales, Cardiff Capital 

Region), landowners, private developers and investors 

to deliver projects.

•	 Working proactively with the private sector and 

landowners to encourage investment.

•	 Preparation of detailed project briefs for each project. 

•	 Formation of dedicated project teams comprising 

relevant built environment experts. 

•	 Extensive consultation with all key stakeholders on high 

complexity projects.

•	 Effective utilisation of public sector land, assets and 

resources.

•	 Effective utilisation of funding streams to deliver projects. 

•	 Strategic land acquisition by the public and private 

sectors to deliver key projects, including compulsory 

purchase to facilitate comprehensive development and 

to provide strategic infrastructure.

•	 The aligning of statutory and non-statutory planning 

documents to project delivery in order to ensure a 

strategic approach – eg. BCBC Local Development Plan, 

Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan, local, regional and 

national strategies, supplementary planning guidance, 

best practice guides and design briefs. 

Image showing the discussion boards and maps used to engage 
stakeholders during the Visioning Workshop for Bridgend town centre 
masterplan, conducted on 11th March 2020 in the Civic Offices, 
Bridgend. The delivery of the masterplan would benefit from similar 
face-to-face or digital engagement events in the future.

29

P
age 111



N ATION A L & REG ION A L 

GOV E RNME NTA L ORG A NI SATION S

•	 We l s h G ove r n m e nt

• 	 Ca r d i f f  Ca p i t a l  Reg ion (CCR)

• 	 Des ig n Commi s s ion fo r  Wa l es

E N V IRONME NT A ND HE RITAG E

•	 N atu r a l  Resou r c es Wa l es (NRW )

• 	 Cad w

INFR ASTRUCTURE AUTHORIT IES

•	 Tr a n s por t  fo r  Wa l es  ( T f W )

• 	 Tr a n s por t  fo r  Wa l es  Ra i l  S e r v ic es

• 	 N et work Ra i l

LOCA L / REG ION A L BODIES

•	 B r i dg e n d Tow n Cou nc i l

• 	 S ou t h Wa l es  Po l i c e

• 	 S ou t h Wa l es F i r e  & Resc u e S e r v ic e

• 	 Pos t  O f f i c e  Ltd .

• 	 B r i dg e n d Co l l eg e

•	 Reg i s te r e d S oc i a l  L a n d lo r d s (RS L s)

OTHE R PRI VATE E NTIT IES

•	 L a n dow n e r s

• 	 Bu s i n es s O p e r a to r s

• 	 Pr i va te  Deve lop e r s

• 	 Pr op e r t y  Ag e nt s

COMMUNIT Y

•	 Res i d e nt s  o f  B r i dg e n d

•	 B r i dge n d C iv ic  Tr u s t

• 	 A r t s  a n d Cu l t u r e  G r ou ps/

As soc i a t ion s

Br idgend Count y 
Borough Counc i l 

(BCBC)

High-level framework indicating the key development partners in the delivery 
of Bridgend town centre masterplan

30

P
age 112



For more information, please contact:

Bridgend County Borough Council 

Regeneration Team  

regeneration@bridgend.gov.uk 

Phone: (01656) 643643 

Footfall Link

The council collects footfall data in Bridgend town centre 

at Adare Street and Caroline Street, in Porthcawl town 

centre at John Street and in Talbot Street in Maesteg town 

centre. 

This footfall data is available each week on the Council’s 

web site and can be accessed by following the link:

www.bridgend.gov.uk/footfall 

Town Centre Property Index

The councils Town Centre Property Index lists the 

properties for sale or to let within the three town centres of 

Bridgend, Porthcawl and Maesteg. The Index shows the 

agents contact details and lists some information about the 

properties which the agents have supplied. There is also a 

photo for each property and a map showing its location. 

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/business/  

click on the ‘Town Centre Property Index’ box.

31

P
age 113



Publishing Information 
and Copyright

This report has been produced by 
BDP limited for and on behalf of 

Bridgend County Borough Council.

P
age 114



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

 REPORT TO TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCIL FORUM

15 FEBRUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS (WALES) ACT 2021 

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to the Town and Community Council Forum a copy 
of the report presented to Council on 20th January 2021 on the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021, for information. 

2.0 Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county 
borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and 
ambitions for all people in the county borough.

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking steps 
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council 
and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and 
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.0      Background

3.1 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 received Royal Assent on 20th 
January 2021.  It is a substantial piece of legislation covering electoral reform, public 
participation, governance and performance and regional working. The new approach, as set 
out in the Act, is designed to be a more streamlined, flexible, sector-led approach to 
performance, good governance and improvement.  The intention is for councils to be 
proactive in considering how internal processes and procedures should change to enable 
more effective planning, delivery and decision making in order to drive better outcomes.  

4.0 Current situation/proposal

4.1 Attached as Appendix 1 to this report is a copy of the report presented to Council on 20th 
January 2021, for information. 

5.0 Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



 

5.1 None.   

6.0 Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 There are no equality impact implications arising from this report.

7.0 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8.0 Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

9.0 Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that the Town and Community Council Forum receives and considers 
this report. 

Mark Shephard, 
Chief Executive 
February 2021

Contact Officer: Laura Griffiths 
Group Manager Legal and Democratic Services 

Telephone: 01656 643135

Email: laura.griffiths@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Civic Centre, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:  None

Page 116



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO COUNCIL   

20 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS (WALES) BILL 

1. Purpose of report

1.1 To provide Council with an update regarding the Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Bill and an Action Plan to ensure that the Council is prepared for the 
various elements of the Bill that will come into force in due course.   

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 The Bill was passed by the Senedd on 18th November 2020 and will receive Royal 
Assent in January 2021.  It is a substantial piece of legislation covering electoral 
reform, public participation, governance and performance and regional working. 

3.2 The new approach, as set out in the Bill, is designed to be a more streamlined, 
flexible, sector-led approach to performance, good governance and improvement.  
The intention is for councils to be proactive in considering how internal processes 
and procedures should change to enable more effective planning, delivery and 
decision making in order to drive better outcomes.  

3.3 In summary the Bill introduces:

Reforming Electoral Arrangements for local government

 Extending the voting franchise to 16 and 17 year olds and foreign citizens legally 
resident in Wales;

 Enabling councils to choose between ‘first past the post’ or the ‘single 
transferable vote’ voting systems;

 Change of electoral cycle for principal councils from four years to five years;

Page 117



 Allowing non-politically restricted council staff to stand for election in their own 
authority (but who should resign if elected);

 Removal of Returning Officers’ Fees for local elections.

General Power of Competence 

 There was wide spread support for a general power of competence.  This is now 
included in the Bill.

Reforming public participation in local government

 Duty to encourage local people to participate in local government (and to 
produce a strategy to that effect);

 Duty to make petition scheme (and repeal of community polls);
 Duty to broadcast certain council meetings;
 Flexibility around remote attendance of Members.

Reforms around democratic governance and leadership 

 Appointment of Chief Executives (rather than Head of Paid Service) with specific 
duties; 

 Appointment of assistants to Cabinets and allowing job-sharing Leaders or 
Cabinet Members;

 Updating family absence provisions in line with those available to employees;
 Requiring Leaders of political groups to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct by Members of their groups.

Reform of the performance and governance regime

 Repeal of the 2009 Measure duties, replacing audit and reporting duties with 
self-assessment and panel assessment (peer review);

 Reforms to Audit Committees, renaming as Governance and Audit Committees 
and prescribing membership and chair.

Collaborative Working 

 Powers for councils to initiate the establishment of Corporate Joint Committees 
(CJCs) covering any functions

 Powers for Ministers to establish CJCs covering the four functions of economic 
development, transport, strategic planning and school improvement. 

Voluntary Mergers of principal councils

 Compulsory mergers are no longer Government policy;
 Powers to facilitate voluntary mergers of principal councils and restructuring a 

principal area.  

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 It is anticipated that the Bill will receive Royal Assent in January 2021.  The ‘Coming 
into Force’ provisions of the Bill are complex with some provisions coming into force 
within days of Royal Assent, others within months, and the majority via Ministerial 

Page 118



Statutory Instrument.  Welsh Government will be developing a clear outline 
timetable for implementation for local authorities.  

4.2 Attached as Appendix 1 is an Action Plan to ensure that this Council is prepared 
for the introduction of the Bill.  The Action Plan will be updated accordingly as 
various provisions of the Bill come into force.    

5. Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules

5.1 None directly applicable to this report.  

6. Equality Impact Assessment 

6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report. 

7.  Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report. As the report is for information only it is considered that there will be no 
significant or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being 
goals/objectives as a result of this report.  Elements of the Bill will however have a 
positive impact on the five ways of working under the Act.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 None directly applicable to this report but individual elements of the Bill will have 
future cost implications.  

8.2 Welsh Government has committed to providing support and funding for some 
aspects of the Bill’s implementation, including £500,000 to support digital 
democracy and potential set-up costs to support Corporate Joint Committees.   

8.3 Improvement support will also be provided to councils through the WLGA, for 
example in supporting new councillor duties, public participation duties, statutory 
self-assessments and panel assessments.  

9. Recommendations

Council is recommended to: 

9.1 Note the report and Action Plan attached as Appendix 1;

9.2 Note that further reports on individual elements of the Bill will be submitted to 
Cabinet and Council in due course.   

Mark Shephard
Chief Executive 
January 2021

Contact Officer: Mark Shephard, Chief Executive. 

Telephone: 01656 643106

Page 119



E-mail: mark.shephard@bridgend.gov.uk     

Postal Address      Civic Centre, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None 

Page 120

mailto:mark.shephard@bridgend.gov.uk


1

Bridgend County Borough Council 
Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill 2020 Action Plan

Provisions Actions Responsible 
Officer

Progress 
Update 

Coming into force 

Part 1 Elections
Extension of right to 
vote in local 
government elections 
(16-17 year olds and 
qualifying foreign 
citizens)
(section 2 of the Bill)

 Addressed via canvass: raising awareness campaigns and 
change to Electoral Services software. 

 Electoral Services to support this piece of work

Group 
Manager – 
Business 
Support 

Ongoing Entitlement to be 
registered as a Local 
Government Elector – 2 
months after Royal Assent.
Other provisions come into 
force 2 months after Royal 
Assent but do not take 
effect until 5 May 2022 and 
thereafter in respect of 
Local Government 
Elections and Local 
Referendum. 

Duty to promote 
awareness of registration 
and provide assistance 
(section 4)

 Ensuring that awareness raising work programmes align with 
Electoral Commission’s campaign.

Group 
Manager – 
Business 
Support

Ongoing 2 months after Royal 
Assent 

Two voting systems. 
Simple majority system 
and Single Transferable 
Voting system. 
(Sections 5–12)

 Simple majority system to apply unless and until the Council 
changes the voting system for the first time. 

 Address procedure to be followed regarding a proposal to 
change the Council’s voting system, in part reflecting that a 
resolution would be required before 15 November of the year 
that is 3 years before the year in which the next ordinary 
election of the Council is due to be held.

 Clarification required on the restrictions at Section 12 on 
number of Councillors if Single Transferrable Voting system 
applies to the election of Councillors for a Principal Council, the 
number of Councillors for each Electoral Ward is to be no less 
than 3 but no more than 6.

Group 
Manager – 
Business 
Support

Review 
following 2022 
Local 
Government 
Elections 

6 May 2022

Change of electoral cycle 
for Principal and 

 Amendments to Council website
 Amend any references in Constitution

Group 
Manager – 

2 months after Royal 
Assent 

P
age 121



2

Community Councils, 
Elected Mayors from four 
years to five years, 
extension of power to 
change ordinary day of 
local elections (Sections 
14–17)

 Advise Members accordingly Business 
Support / 
Monitoring 
Officer

Registration of local 
government electors 
without application
(Section 18)

 Systems being established to ensure appropriate notification 
and record keeping are in place. 

Group 
Manager – 
Business 
Support

Ongoing Dates to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

Qualification / 
Disqualification for election 
and being a member of a 
local authority (Sections 
19-21) 

 Include in Elections Candidate Pack.
 To be addressed through Electoral Commission Guidance and 

briefing sessions for potential candidates

Group 
Manager – 
Business 
Support

Dates to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

Translations etc of 
documents at local 
government elections 
(Section 22)

 Arrangements being made for beyond the May 2022 elections. Group 
Manager – 
Business 
Support

Ongoing 2 months after Royal 
Assent subject to Section 3 
which in part refers to this 
Section taking effect in 
Local Government 
Elections or Local 
Referendum on or after 5 
May 2022

P
age 122



3

Part 2 Chapter 1 
General power of 
competence for
local authorities 
Defines the power, 
defines qualifying local 
authority as a Principal 
Council and an ‘eligible 
community council, 
including limits on 
charging in exercise of 
general power, limits on 
doing things for 
commercial purposes in 
exercise of general 
power, powers to make 
supplementary 
provisions 

 Embed in business as usual.  Corporate 
Management 
Board 

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers 

Chapter 2 Eligible 
Community Councils to 
qualify for the general 
power of competence

For noting, matter for Town and 
Community Councils

 Monitoring Officer to raise awareness with 
Clerks. 

Town and 
Community 
Councils / 
Monitoring 
Officer

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

Part 3 Promoting 
Access to Local 
Government, 
Duty to encourage local 
people to participate in 
decision making by 
principal councils 
(Section 39)

 Develop guidance 
 Review current process e.g. public speaking and public 

questions at all Committees.  

Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Monitoring 
Officer 

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers.

P
age 123



4

Strategy on encouraging 
participation (as above) 
Public Participation 
Strategy - consultation 
and review (Sections 
40–41)

 Develop a Strategy for compliance with duty - promoting 
awareness, how to become a Member and what membership 
entails; ways of promoting and facilitating processes by 
which local people may made representation about a 
decision before and after it is made, bringing the public’s 
views to the attention of Scrutiny Committee and promoting 
awareness of the benefits of social media as a means to 
communicate.

 Strategy to be reviewed as soon as practicable following 
each ordinary election.

Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Senior 
Democratic 
Services Officer 
– Scrutiny / 
Group Manager 
Transformation 
and Customer 
Services.

As soon as 
reasonably 
practicable 
after 
Section 40 
comes into 
force

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Duty to make petition 
scheme (Section 42)

 Introduce a Petition Scheme 
 Update Constitution.  

Monitoring 
Officer / Head of 
Democratic 
Services 

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Duty on principal 
councils to publish official 
addresses for Members 
(Section 43)

 Information currently available on the Council’s website. 
Members not wishing to make their home address public 
(provided they satisfy the requirements of the Members’ Code 
of Conduct) utilise the Civic Office address.

Compliant

Duty to publish 
Constitution and 
Constitution Guide 
(Section 45)

 Guide to be developed and published online.  
 Consider whether to provide hard copies free of charge or at a 

charge representing no more than the cost of providing the 
copy.  (Constitution / website to be amended if charge to be 
introduced).  

Monitoring 
Officer and 
Head of 
Democratic 
Services 

Constitution 
currently on 
the council’s 
website

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Electronic broadcasts of 
certain local authority 
meetings (Section 46)

Introduce and publish arrangements to ensure:
 The broadcasting of meetings open to the public as they take 

place (subject to exceptions) and make available for a 
specified time following the meeting.

 Develop an action plan
 Webcasting contract to be reviewed accordingly.  

Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Monitoring 
Officer

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

P
age 124



5

Attendance at local 
authority meetings 
(remote attendance) 
(Section 47)

 Make and publish arrangements ensuring relevant 
meetings are able to be held remotely and meet the 
necessary conditions of Section 47.

 Relevant local authorities to publish arrangements 
jointly in relation to meetings of a Joint Committee. 

 Review the Constitution – potential amendments 
required to reflect the conditions for a Member to 
attend remotely.

 Due to the Covid 19 Pandemic, measures were introduced 
and are currently in place to allow all committee meetings to 
be held remotely via Microsoft Teams.

Head of 
Democratic 
Services 

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Participation at 
meetings of 
Community Councils 
(Section 48) 

For noting, matter for Town and Community Councils.  
 Monitoring Officer to raise awareness with Clerks 

TCC Clerks / 
Monitoring Officer

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Notices etc of local 
authority meetings 
(Section 49)

 Existing practices to be reviewed accordingly. 
 Notices of meetings currently published on the Council’s 

Notice Board.  Agendas, minutes, reports are also published 
electronically on the website.  Limited hard copies of 
Agendas / Reports are also made available at meetings that 
are open to the public.

Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Monitoring Officer

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Regulations about 
conduct of local 
authority meetings, 
documents relating to 
meetings and 
publication of 
information 
(Section 50)

 Regulations to be reviewed.  Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Monitoring Officer

Day after Royal Assent 

Regulations about 
community meetings 
(Section 51).

For noting, Regulations to be reviewed.   TCC Clerks / 
Monitoring Officer

Day after Royal Assent

P
age 125



6

Annual Reports by 
Community Councils 
(Section 52)

For noting, matter for Town and 
Community Councils.  

 Monitoring Officer to raise awareness with 
Clerks.  

Town and 
Community 
Councils / 
Monitoring Officer 

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Part 4 Local Authority
Executives, 
Members, Officers 
and Committees
Appointment of Chief 
Executive rather than a 
Head of Paid service
Matters to be kept 
under review by Chief 
Executive 
Reconsideration of 
renumeration if 
direction given by 
Welsh Ministers 
(Sections 54 –56)

 Pay Policy potential implications subject to direction from 
Welsh Ministers

 Amend Constitution accordingly

Monitoring Officer 
/ Group Manager 
HR and 
Organisational 
Development

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers (Sections 54 
and 56)
2 months after Royal Assent 
(Section 55, which amends 
reference from salary to 
renumeration)

Appointments of 
assistants to Executive 
(Section 57)

 Constitution to be amended to permit the appointment of 
assistants to the Executive.

 Appointments to be determined by the Leader

Leader/ 
Monitoring Officer 
/ Group Manager 
HR and 
Organisational 
Development / 
Head of 
Democratic 
Services 

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Job Sharing - Leader 
and Cabinet Members 
(Sections 58-59)

 Review internal processes 
 Implications as a consequence of senior salary cap
 Appointments to be determined by the Leader
 Constitution to be amended to incorporate provision to enable 

2 or more councillors to share office of an Executive, including 
the office of Executive Leader; changing the maximum number 
of Members of an Executive when sharing office; and 
addressing voting and quorum where Members of an 
Executive share office.

Leader
/Cabinet 
Members
/ Monitoring 
Officer / Head of 
Democratic 
Services / Group 
Manager HR and 
Organisational 
Development  

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

P
age 126



7

Job-sharing: non-executive 
offices in Principal Councils.
Welsh Ministers make 
regulations.
(Section 60)

 Regulations to be monitored when implemented. Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Monitoring 
Officer / Group 
Manager HR 
and 
Organisational 
Development. 

2 months after Royal Assent 

Family absence provisions for 
Members of local authorities 
(Section 61)

 Take a report to Democratic Services Committee
 Develop procedure / guidance for Members and 

thereafter inform all Members and potential 
candidates for future elections.

Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Monitoring 
Officer

Day after Royal Assent

Duties of Leaders of political 
groups in relation to standards of 
conduct 
Standards Committee – to 
monitor compliance with the 
above and provide training
(Sections 62)

 Monitoring Officer to brief Group Leaders accordingly 
 Standards Committee – Terms of Reference to be 

amended

Group Leaders / 
Monitoring 
Officer 
/Standards 
Committee

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Standards Committee Annual 
Report (Section 63)

 Constitution to be potentially amended in respect of 
role of Standards Committee.  

 Terms of Reference of the Committee to be amended 
accordingly within the Constitution.  

Monitoring 
Officer / 
Standards 
Committee

As soon as 
reasonably 
practicable 
after the end 
of each 
financial year 

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Certain investigations by PSOW
 (Section 64)

 Monitoring Officer to brief the Standards Committee Monitoring 
Officer 

Date to be appointed by the 
Welsh Ministers

Making information available to 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees 
(Section 65)

 Review current arrangements - power to require 
information to be made available about decisions.

Head of 
Democratic 
Services / 
Senior 
Democratic 
Services Officer 
- Scrutiny

Date appointment by Welsh 
Ministers 

P
age 127



8

Power to require authorities to 
appoint Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees
(Section 66)

Review existing arrangements with neighbouring 
Principal Councils and present a joint report to 
respective Councils.

Head of 
Democratic 
Services / Senior 
Democratic 
Services Officer - 
Scrutiny

Date appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

Community Council Training 
Plans
(Section 67)

For noting, matter for Town and Community 
Councils.  
 Monitoring Officer to raise 

awareness with Clerks.  

TCC Clerks / 
Monitoring 
Officer

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

P
age 128



9

Part 5 Collaborative Working 
by Principal Councils
Guidance about collaborative 
working 
(Section 69)

 Consider guidance to be issued by Welsh Ministers Chief Executive 
/ Corporate 
Management 
Board.  

Day after Royal Assent 

Establishing Corporate Joint 
Committees were request has 
been made to Welsh Ministers.  
Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to application
(Section 70 and 71)
Welsh Ministers may by 
regulations establish CJCs 
(Section 72)
Conditions to be met (Section 
73)
Establishing CJC when no 
request has been made to 
Welsh Ministers and conditions 
to be met (Section 74 and 75) 
Further provisions relating to 
CJCs and Joint Committee 
Regulations (Section 76-88).

 CJCs are subject to Regulations with a consultation 
closing date set by Welsh Government of 4 January 
2021. 

 CJC’s to be reported separately to Cabinet (19th 
January 2021).  

Chief Executive 
/ Monitoring 
Officer

Day after Royal Assent 

Part 6 Performance and 
Governance of Principal 
Councils and Duty of 
Principal Council to keep its
performance under review 
Duty to keep performance 
under review (Section 89)
Duty to consult local people 
(Section 90)

 Chief Executive 
/ Interim Section 
151 Officer 

Date to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

P
age 129



10

Undertake an Annual self – 
assessment. Publish a draft 
report of the assessment report 
it to the Governance and Audit 
Committee and publish the 
final report. (Section 91)

Chief Executive 
/ Interim Section 
151 Officer 

Date to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

Council to make arrangements 
to appoint a panel to assess the 
extent to which performance 
requirements are being met.
(Section 92)

Date to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

Local Authority to respond to the 
panel’s performance 
assessment
(Section 93) 

 Chief Executive 
/ Interim Section 
151 Officer 

Date to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

Welsh Ministers may introduce 
regulations regarding panel 
performance assessments
(Section 94)

 Regulations to be kept under review. Chief Executive 
/ Interim Section 
151 Officer 

2 months after Royal 
Assent

Power of Auditor General to 
carry out a special inspection
and publish a report. 
Duty of Principal Council to 
respond to Auditor General’s 
recommendations and Welsh 
Ministers to respond to 
recommendations (Section 95, 
96, 97)

For noting 2 months after Royal 
Assent

P
age 130



11

Auditor General’s powers of 
entry and inspection etc 
(Section 98-101).  

For noting Date to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers 

Support and assistance by the 
Welsh Ministers to principal 
councils to meet performance 
requirements.  (Section 102 - 
112)

For noting Date to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

P
age 131



12

Disapplication of the 2009 
measure in relation to Principal 
Councils and repeal of 
provisions about coordination of 
audit. 
(Section 113)

For noting.  Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

Amendment of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015.
(Section 114)

 Consideration to be given to amalgamating the self- 
assessment performance report with the 2015 Act 
report. 

Chief 
Executive / 
Interim 
Section 151 
Officer

Ongoing 
through the 
Annual Report

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

Governance and Audit 
Committee, membership, 
proceedings
(Sections 115–118)

 Broaden terms of reference of the Committee within 
the Constitution.  

 Audit Committee’s to be renamed Governance and 
Audit Committee.  

Monitoring 
Officer / 
Interim 
Section 151 
Officer / Head 
of Regional 
Audit 

Committee 
already named 
Governance 
and Audit 
Committee – 
compliant.    

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

Coordination between 
Regulators 
(Sections 119-120)

For noting Date to be appointed by 
Welsh Ministers

Part 7- Mergers and 
Restructuring of Principal 
Areas 

Voluntary mergers, local 
discretion and conditions 
associated with Welsh Minister 
making restructuring regulations 
and remuneration arrangements 
for new Principal Councils
(Sections 121-150)

For noting Chief 
Executive 

Mainly day after Royal Assent 
with a number of provisions on 
dates appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

P
age 132



13

Part 8 - Local Government 
Finance 

 Powers to require 
information relating to 
hereditaments, information 
relevant to determining 
liability for non-domestic 
rate, powers to inspect 
property, amendment to 
multipliers, amendments to 
the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988, granting 
Welsh Ministers powers to 
make regulations on joint 
and several liability to pay 
Council tax. 

 Removal of Power to 
provide for Imprisonment of 
Council Tax Debtors

(Sections 151 - 158)

 Review Scheme of Delegation of Functions / 
Constitution.  Monitoring 

Officer / 
Interim 
Section 151 
Officer 

2 months after Royal Assent 
(Sections 152, 154-156 and 
158)
1 April 2021 
(Sections 151, 153 and 157)

Part 9 - miscellaneous
Information Sharing between 
Regulators
(Section 159)

For noting Data 
Protection and 
Information 
Officer / 
Interim 
Section 151 
Officer.  

Mainly on the day after Royal 
Assent 

Head of Democratic Services
(Section 161)  Pay Policy to be updated - Chief Officer to 

include Head of Democratic Services. 
Group 
Manager HR 
and 
Organisational 
Development

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

Abolition of polls consequent on 
a community meeting
(Section 162)

 For noting, matter for Town and Community 
Councils.  

TCC / 
Monitoring 
Officer

Date to be appointed by Welsh 
Ministers

P
age 133



14

Merging and de-merging 
Public Services Boards 
under the Well-being and 
Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015.
(Section 165)

For noting Chief 
Executive / 
Interim 
Section 151 
Officer 

2 months after Royal Assent P
age 134


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	4 Outcome of the Consultation "Fit For The Future"
	01 Appendix A OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION FIT FOR THE FUTURE Cabinet report
	01 Appendix B Fit for the Future Consultation report

	5 Bridgend Town Centre Regeneration Masterplan Consultation (December 2020 - March 2021) - Engagement with Town and Community  Councils
	02 Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan-Executive Summary

	6 Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021
	03 Bill report January 2021
	03 Bill Action Plan


